

Background Paper Review of Mass Drug Administration and Primaquine Use

Prepared for the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation January 2014



UCSF GLOBAL HEALTH SCIENCES THE GLOBAL HEALTH GROUP From evidence to action

Contents

Acknowledgements 2
Acronyms
Introduction
Methods 4
Findings
Study objectives and design
Contextual parameters - endemicity, seasonality, target population
Outcome measures
Drug regimens
Co-Interventions15
Delivery methods and community engagement16
Study outcomes
Limitations
Discussion and conclusions
Learning points
Evidence gaps
Recommendations
Appendix A: Mass drug administration for malaria (Cochrane Review) 24
Appendix B: 240 studies assessed for inclusion
Appendix C: Study exclusion/inclusion process
Appendix D: MDA interview guide
References

Acknowledgements

This background paper is a rapid synthesis of current evidence prepared for the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to inform strategy development.

This report was authored by Gretchen Newby, Kadiatou Koita, Ingrid Chen, Eugenie Poirot, Jennifer Wegbreit and Roly Gosling of the Global Health Group at the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), Jimee Hwang (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/President's Malaria Initiative and UCSF Global Health Group), and Matt Ippolito (Department of Internal Medicine at UCSF).

The authors acknowledge with thanks the contributions of the many people who have participated in collection and exploration of information contained in this report: Keith Arnold and Karl Rieckmann (Independent Consultants), Andrei Beljaev (Russian Medical Academy for Postgraduate Training), Brian Foy (Colorado State University), Elkhan Gasimov (World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe [WHO-EURO]), Brian Greenwood (London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine [LSHTM]), Li Guoqiao (Guangzhou University), Akira Kaneko (Karolinska Institutet), Anatoly Kondrashin (WHO), Francois Nosten (Shoklo Malaria Research Unit) Kevin Palmer (Vectorborne Diseases Associates), Shushil Pant (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia [WHO-SEARO]), Dennis Shanks (Australian Army Malaria Institute), and Lorenz von Seidlein (Menzies School of Health Research).

The following individuals reviewed the report and provided important assistance and feedback: Brian Greenwood (LSHTM), Karl Rieckmann (Independent Consultant), Dennis Shanks (Australian Army Malaria Institute), and Lorenz von Seidlein (Menzies School of Health Research).

We thank Kerstin Svendsen (UCSF Global Health Group) for her work on the graphic design of this report, and Andrew Anglemyer (UCSF Global Health Sciences), Celso Inguane (I-TECH Mozambique), Alicen Burns Spaulding (UCSF Prevention Sciences Group), and Chongyi Wei (UCSF Center for AIDS Prevention Studies) for their translation of foreign-language studies.

The authors are responsible for any errors or omissions.

Acronyms

- ACT Artemisinin Combination Therapy
- AFRO Regional Office for Africa (WHO)
- API Annual Parasite Incidence
- CQ Chloroquine
- DOT Directly Observed Treatment
- DPRK Democratic People's Republic of Korea
- EIR Entomological Inoculation Rate
- EMRO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (WHO)
- EURO Regional Office for Europe (WHO)
- FEMSE Fast Elimination of Malaria by Source Eradication
- G6PD Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
- GMEP Global Malaria Eradication Programme
- **IPT Intermittent Preventive Treatment**
- IPTi Intermittent Preventive Treatment to Infants
- IPTp Intermittent Preventive Treatment to Pregnant Women
- IRS Indoor Residual Spraying
- ITN Insecticide Treated Net
- MDA Mass Drug Administration
- MPPT Mass Primaquine Prophylactic Treatment
- MSAT Mass Screen and Treat
- PAHO Regional Office for the Americas (WHO)
- PP Parasite Prevalence
- PQ Primaquine
- PYR Pyrimethamine
- RCT Randomized Control Trial
- SEARO Regional Office for South-East Asia (WHO)
- SP Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine
- WHO World Health Organization
- WPRO Regional Office for the Western Pacific (WHO)

Introduction

Mass drug administration (MDA) was a component of many malaria elimination programs during the eradication era. Since then, however, it has been viewed with skepticism due to concerns regarding its efficacy, logistical feasibility, sustainability as a malaria control tool, and fear of accelerating drug resistance. But in light of the availability of transmission-reducing antimalarials, e.g. artemisinin-based combination therapies and primaquine, and the limitations of current diagnostic tools to detect sub-patent infections, the role of MDA as an elimination tool must be reexamined.^{1,2}

The empiric use of antimalarial drugs can be generally grouped into four sometimes-overlapping categories: 1) chemoprophylaxis, in which drugs are administered at suppressive doses throughout the defined period; 2) intermittent preventive treatment (IPT), in which a full curative dose of an antimalarial is given to the target population at specified times; 3) direct MDA, in which drugs are administered to the entire population using full therapeutic courses; and 4) indirect MDA, in which drugs are administered through the fortification of salt.^{3,4}

Although the World Health Organization (WHO) discouraged the use of MDA in the past, many malaria programs in regions with the most experience in malaria elimination, notably the former USSR and China, have widely implemented MDA both to eliminate malaria and as an epidemic response. Numerous field studies have attempted to interrupt transmission, and while most failed, there are several examples where MDA, in combination with other malaria control measures, had success.

Until recently, a systematic and comprehensive analysis of previous MDA experiences had not been done. However, a Cochrane Review assessing the quantitative effects of malaria MDA documented in published studies was just completed⁵ (see Appendix A). The authors found that many MDA trials were not detailed enough to include in their analysis, and the included studies were so heterogeneous that only a limited number of conclusions could be made. In order to maximize the learning from previous experiences of malaria MDA and build upon the knowledge base established through the Cochrane Review, a qualitative study was undertaken. This background paper summarizes the findings from the qualitative exercise, lays out knowledge gaps, and provides recommendations to support the use of MDA for malaria elimination and eradication.

Methods

A comprehensive literature review and key informant interviews were conducted in order to thoroughly document current and past MDA strategies. The literature review included published, unpublished, and grey literature in multiple languages from the past century. Key informants with extensive experience conducting MDA in the field were identified and interviewed, and their protocols and unpublished reports were obtained when possible.

• The literature search originated from the Cochrane Review; search terms and resources used can be found on page 8 in Appendix A. In short, 3,048 studies were identified for screening and 240 were assessed for inclusion (a full list of references can be found in Appendix B). 32 studies (13%) that met stringent inclusion criteria were included in the Cochrane Review, which focused its analysis on quantitative outcomes. In order to gain insight from those papers excluded from the review, this background paper reevaluated the 240 studies using less rigorous exclusion criteria (see below and Appendix C for study exclusion/inclusion process).

Exclusion criteria:

- 1. Individually randomized studies
- 2. Studies in which the primary focus was not MDA (e.g. historical program reviews that merely made mention of MDA activities, community surveys done in conjunction with MDA)
- 3. Studies that were not unique (e.g. multiple phases of the same study published separately)
- 4. Historical accounts of mass quinine distribution in the early 20th century
- 5. Studies targeting short-term residents of malaria endemic areas (e.g. military, laborers)
- Studies treating subgroups in which treatment was given at milestones rather than calendar dates (e.g. intermittent preventive treatment to infants [IPTi] coinciding with the vaccination schedule, or pregnant women [IPTp] coinciding with trimester check-ups)

This resulted in the inclusion of studies that used inadequate treatment doses (chemoprophylaxis), treated subgroups according to calendar dates (seasonal malaria chemoprevention), provided insufficient information on drug regimen, populations involved, or outcome measures, and used a mass screen and treat approach. Including these studies provided valuable information on operational details, including delivery strategies, contextual parameters, and other study features that were not examined in the Cochrane Review. Data from all included studies were systematically extracted by the research team and entered into a Qualtrics (Qualtrics, Provo, UT) database for analysis. In this paper, the term MDA is used in reference to the four types of malaria chemoprevention described in Figure 1 under the *Included* headings.

	Dose									
	Subther	apeutic	Therapeutic							
Population	Included	Excluded	Included	Excluded						
Subgroup	Chemoprophylaxis In children	Chemopropylaxis in other groups, such as pregnant women	Seasonal malaria chemoprevention	Intermittent preventive treatment in infants and pregnant women						
All	Chemoprophylaxis	Medicated salt	Mass drug administration Mass Primaquine prophylactic treatment	None						

Figure 1. Types of malaria chemoprevention

In addition to the studies identified in the Cochrane Review, a search of the WHO archives revealed 30 League of Nations reports published by the Malaria Commission from 1924 to 1932.⁶ The reports document the use of MDA in what are now the European (EURO) and Eastern Mediterranean (EMRO) regions of the WHO. These studies were evaluated using the same exclusion criteria listed above, but only if they included the use of an 8-aminoquinoline.

• Key informants were identified through published literature and by recommendations from malaria epidemiologists, control specialists and other stakeholders. Interviews were semi-structured (see interview guide Appendix D). During this process, unpublished reports and grey literature were sought and are included in the findings.

Findings

After applying the exclusion criteria described above, 168 studies assessed in the Cochrane Review were analyzed. To facilitate data extraction, some were broken up into sub-studies; as a result, 181 total studies and sub-studies were reviewed. Only two of the League of Nations reports provided enough details on study procedure, drug regimens, and baseline and outcome data to be considered for analysis. One was determined to be a duplicate of a study already included in the Cochrane Review and excluded, thus bringing the total number of analyzed studies to 182. Of these, 67 (37%) were from the African region (AFRO), 21 (12%) from EMRO, 15 (8%) from EURO, 22 (12%) from Region of the Americas (PAHO), 27 (15%) from South-East Asia Region (SEARO), and 30 (16%) from Western Pacific Region (WPRO). The studies span the past century, with the earliest published in 1913 and the most recent in 2011.

Twelve out of 43 MDA studies (28%) that reported follow-up periods of greater than six months were determined to be successful, with success defined as zero indigenous malaria cases in the target population maintained over six months after the end of drug administration (see Table 1). These studies were carried out between 1936 and 2004 and took place in nine different countries. Six were from WPRO, two from EMRO, two from SEARO (both India), and one from AFRO (highlands of Uganda).

Study Author Country Years	Type and goal of MDA	Drug regimen and duration of intervention	Target population description	Method of delivery	Target population size (coverage %)	Baseline endemicity	Parasite species	Timing relative to transmission season	Additional control measures	Outcomes
Dupoux ² Tunisia 1936	Mass chemo- prophylaxis: Reduce morbidity	Premaline (dosage ND) every 10 days for 1 month, then every 14 days for 5 months Total duration: 6 months	All individuals	DOT	27,097 (100%)	High (approximate; numerical PP not reported)	ND	After	None	Transmission interrupted with parasite indices reduced to 0 in some areas
Liu ⁸ China 1981-1985	Mass treatment: Outbreak response, elimination	During low transmission season: CQ 1200mg + PQ 180 mg over 8 days During high transmission season: CQ 300 mg + PQ 30 mg twice a month Total duration: 5 years	All individuals	ND	26,369 (100%)	Moderate	ND	Year-round	Bed nets	Transmission interrupted PP reduced to 0.05%
Berberian ⁹ Lebanon 1946-1947	Mass screening and treatment (MSAT), then mass treatment: Reduce morbidity	CQ 125-500mg weekly Total duration: 7.5 months	All individuals ≥6 months of age	DOT	93-215 (100%)	Moderate	P. falciparum P. vivax	During and after	IRS immediately after conclusion of MDA	Case incidence decreased to 0.02/1000 persons/month; cases were suspected relapsed <i>vivax</i> infections
Dapeng ¹⁰ China 1985-1994	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 1500mg + PQ 90mg for 3 consecutive days Total duration: 10 years	All individuals where incidence was ≥5% in previous season	ND	1,052,170 over 10 years (ND)	Low	P. falciparum P. vivax	During and outside	IRS Bed nets	<i>P. falciparum</i> incidence reduced to 0 and <i>P. vivax</i> incidence to 0.05/1000 persons/month Success attributed to vector control interventions
Department of Health Taiwan ¹¹ Taiwan 1955	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 12mg/kg single dose Total duration: 2 months	All individuals (except for infants)	DOT	1,502 (ND)	Low	P. falciparum P. vivax P. malariae	End	IRS	Neither MDA nor IRS alone able to bring PP to 0 Combined interventions led to elimination
De Zulueta ¹² Uganda 1960	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 200- 600mg + PYR 16.5- 49.5mg two single doses Total duration: 6 months	All individuals <u>></u> 3 months	ND	8,000-16,000 (50-100%)	Moderate	P. falciparum P. malariae	During	IRS	Transmission interrupted

Table 1: Studies that interrupted transmission for over 6 months after the end of MDA

Huehne ¹³ Malaysia Orang Asli 1961-1963	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 600mg + 49.5mg PYR monthly dose Total duration: 31 months	All individuals	ND	147 (50-75%)	High	P. falciparum	Before and after	IRS	IRS + MDA brought PP to 0; outbreak 13 months after MDA ended was due to imported case
Huehne ¹³ Malaysia Coastal belt 1961-1963	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 600mg + 49.5mg PYR approximately every 6 months Total duration: 24 months	All individuals	ND	ND	Moderate to high	P. falciparum	During	IRS	MDA ceased after 4 rounds with no transmission; Interruption of transmission attributed to IRS, with MDA hastening progress
Kaneko ¹⁴ Vanuatu 1991	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 600mg + SP 1500mg/75mg + PQ 45mg weekly dose in weeks 1, 5 and 9; CQ 300mg + PQ 45mg weekly dose in weeks 2-4 and 6-8 Total duration: 9 weeks	All individuals (pregnant women CQ only; no PQ for infants <3 months)	DOT	718 (90%)	High	P. falciparum P. vivax P. malariae	Before	Bed nets Larviciding Health education	Malaria eliminated from Aneityum
Lakshmana- charyulu ¹⁵ India 1961	Mass treatment: Outbreak response, elimination	Two rounds CQ + PYR (dosage ND) Total duration: 4 months	All individuals	ND	30,000- 35,000 (80%)	Low (pre- outbreak); high at peak of outbreak	P. falciparum P. vivax	During	IRS	MDA brought PP close to 0; IRS and surveillance over next 4 years led to elimination
Singh ¹⁶ India 1962-1964	Mass treatment: Outbreak response, elimination	PQ 15mg daily for 5 days + CQ 600 mg single dose for 4 rounds; first round treated everyone; subsequent rounds targeted only febrile cases and their contacts Total duration: 2 years	All individuals (except for pregnant women, infants and debilitated)	DOT	22,369 over 2 years (avg 76%)	Low	P. falciparum P. vivax	After	IRS	MDA and IRS combined controlled outbreak and brought PP to 0
Song ¹⁷ Cambodia 2003-2004	Mass treatment: Elimination	Artemisinin-piperaquine 24- 750mg, two doses given at 0 and 24 h (second round one year later in some villages) + PQ 9mg every 10 days for 6 consecutive months Total duration: 6 months – 1 year	All individuals ≥1 year	DOT	2,387- 3,653 (ND)	Low, moderate, and high villages	P. falciparum P. vivax P. malariae	ND	None	PP reduced to 0 in some villages; gametocytemia reduced to 0.6% after 1 year follow up

Note: High endemicity = \geq 40% parasite prevalence; moderate endemicity = 5.1-39.9% parasite prevalence; low endemicity = \leq 5% parasite prevalence

CQ: chloroquine; DOT: directly observed treatment; IRS: indoor residual spraying; ND: not described; PP: parasite prevalence; PQ: primaquine; PYR: pyrimethamine; SP: sulfadoxinepyrimethamine Several reports were obtained from key informants, documenting the implementation of MDA campaigns in the field that have not been published in English language journals¹. Most were large-scale projects that sought to interrupt transmission using different drug regimens, some in response to epidemics, with varying degrees of success. These are described in more detail in the Study Outcomes section and in Table 2, which summarizes all large-scale MDAs with target populations greater than 100,000. The unpublished reports include campaigns that took place in Nissan (an island in Papua New Guinea) in the 1960s, Afghanistan in the early 1970s, Azerbaijan in the 1970s and 1980s, the Solomon Islands in the late 1980s, Tajikistan in the late 1990s/early 2000s, China in the 1970s and 2000s, and Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) in the 2000s.

The data extracted from the literature review, League of Nations report, unpublished/grey literature, and qualitative interviews are organized by topic below. The reviewed studies varied considerably in terms of design, rigor, and depth and quality of data, limiting their analysis and comparability. Qualitative data obtained from key informants was therefore essential to gain a more comprehensive understanding of past MDA experiences. Due to the overall paucity of high quality data, equal weight is given to each data source.

Study objectives and design

Study objectives were classified as either 1) morbidity reduction; 2) elimination/interruption of transmission; or 3) outbreak response. Many of the 182 studies reviewed did not clearly define their objectives; however, the vast majority of objectives were directed at morbidity reduction. About one-third of the studies aimed to eliminate or interrupt transmission, and a small portion were specific to outbreak settings. Most of the unpublished work shared by key informants sought to interrupt transmission in areas of varying endemicity or in post-eradication era epidemic settings. Regardless of their personal experiences, multiple key informants stated that MDA can be used to achieve all three objectives (1-3 above) as long as the interventions are contextual, carefully planned and appropriately implemented.

Most published studies did not have a rigorous design: 27% were descriptive, 52% were before and after studies, 17% were non-randomized control trials (non-RCT), and only 4% were RCT/cluster RCT. While many were described by the authors as MDA, the majority did not meet the definition used in the Cochrane Review (drugs administered to the entire population using full therapeutic courses) and instead should be considered chemoprophylaxis due to their use of a suppressive dose of drugs. Only 42 studies (23%) involved MDA with therapeutic doses, while 107 (59%) were chemoprophylaxis, 13 (7%) were mass screen and treat (MSAT), and 20 studies did not adequately describe the drug regimen. Of the 12 successful studies, 11 used treatment doses. One small study⁹ of uncertain quality was initiated using a MSAT approach; however, the entire population regardless of infection status was shifted into the presumptive treatment group one-third of the way into the study period. Apart from this study, no other MSAT studies showed sustained success (of note, this background paper does not specifically address MSAT; MSAT was not included in the literature search nor were questions related to MSAT included in the interviews or searches for grey and unpublished reports). All unpublished work documented the administration of therapeutic doses.

Duration of intervention for both published and unpublished studies was highly variable, ranging from a single day to ten years. The majority of the studies (63%) lasted nine months or less. Half of the 12 successful studies were of a shorter duration, lasting two to seven months, while the other half ranged from one to ten years.

¹ When this review began, the paper documenting MDA in Jiangsu Province, China in the 1970s and 2000s had not yet been submitted for publication; it was published in *Malaria Journal* on November 1, 2013.¹⁸

Contextual parameters - endemicity, seasonality, target population

Level of **endemicity** was difficult to capture consistently from the published studies, as many provided baseline parasite prevalence or incidence only for subgroups (e.g. infants, school-aged children) and others provided no baseline data at all. To the degree possible, endemicities were grouped into the same categories as those in the Cochrane Review: low (\leq 5%), moderate (5.1-39.9%), and high (\geq 40%)¹⁹ using baseline malaria prevalence or baseline spleen index. For the studies that reported these indices, 43 (24%) were undertaken in what was classified as a high endemic area, 56 (31%) in a moderate endemic area, and 15 (8%) in a low endemic area. Eleven studies targeted groups in both moderate and high endemic areas, and one study was conducted among groups in both moderate and low endemic areas. Of the studies that conducted successful MDA, eight took place in moderate and high endemic area (see Table 1). Most of the unpublished work fell into the moderate/low endemicity category, although some of the campaigns were implemented in high transmission areas with up to 95% baseline prevalence. Key informants agreed that MDA is quite effective in rapidly reducing very high transmission to lower levels, although maintaining transmission at this lower level was noted to be a challenge. Key informants generally thought that low endemic settings were most appropriate for the goal of elimination.

Although some of the published studies did not provide **seasonality** information, the majority reported interventions that took place during the transmission season. Their objectives were to control outbreaks, reduce morbidity during the transmission season, or test the efficacy of specific drugs on malaria transmission. Many MDA interventions were successful at considerably decreasing malaria incidence and prevalence during the intervention period; however these indices typically increased a few weeks to a few months after the interventions ended. The majority of the published studies were conducted during the transmission season. Of the 12 successful studies, 11 reported seasonality: four were conducted during transmission, four during the off season, and three spanned seasons (see Table 1).

Key informant input on seasonality varied. Two informants stated that the timing of the intervention in relation to the malaria season depends on study objectives and drug regimen. For example, chemoprophylaxis for reduction of morbidity can be implemented year round. Another consideration is logistical: conducting fieldwork and accessing target populations is easier during the dry season than during the rainy season, which often coincides with malaria transmission. Key informants strongly believed that when seeking to interrupt transmission in areas with clear, relatively predictable seasonality, MDA is best conducted just prior to the transmission season when malaria incidence is at its lowest point and the target population is most stable.

The **populations** targeted in published studies varied considerably, from small villages of less than 100 people to the entire population of a country with nearly two million inhabitants.²⁰ Most studies targeted populations in the hundreds or thousands. Table 2 summarizes the MDA reports (published and unpublished) that were conducted on a large scale, covering over 100,000 people. The populations' ages vary across the studies. Just over half of the studies included all age groups. When excluded groups were described, they were most often infants (less than one year), pregnant women, patients recently treated for malaria, and people with chronic illness. All of the successful studies targeted entire populations of varying size (with one exception¹⁶, in which only febrile cases and their immediate contacts were treated in subsequent rounds, after an initial round of treating the entire population), and if exclusions were noted they were the same groups as described above. The MDA work discussed with key informants was of a much larger scale, with targeted populations in the tens and hundreds of thousands and reaching up to 28 million per annum in Jiangsu, China, and included all ages. Excluded groups, when addressed, were found to be the same, although in some very recent MDA campaigns pregnant women and young children were included due to a drug regimen (specifically, a very low-dose primaquine²¹) that was considered safe by the study team.

Table 2: Large scale MDAs*

Study Author Country Years	Type and goal of MDA	Drug regimen and duration of intervention	Target population description	Method of delivery	Target population size (coverage %)	Baseline endemicity	Parasite species	Timing relative to transmission season	Additional control measures	Outcomes
Han ²² Republic of Korea 1997-2005	Mass chemo- prophylaxis: Control	CQ 300mg weekly for active duty soldiers; PQ 14mg/day for 14 days for soldiers upon retirement Total duration: 9 years	Active and retired soldiers	ND	985,282 over 9 years (ND)	Low	P. vivax	Year-round	IRS Bed nets	Mass chemoprophylaxis reduced incidence to 0.08/1000 persons/month among soldiers
Joncour ²³ Madagascar 1949-1955	Mass chemo- prophylaxis: Control and elimination	CQ 300mg/week Total duration: 2 years	All individuals age 0-13	DOT	760,000 (100%)	High	P. falciparum P. vivax P. malariae	Year-round	IRS Larviciding	Chemoprophylaxis decreased morbidity and mortality; PP was 10-35% among treated population and higher among untreated
Ossi ²⁴ Iraq 1963	Mass chemo- prophylaxis: Outbreak control and Elimination	CQ 450mg + PYR 50mg twice per month Total duration: 4 months	All individuals	ND	250,000 (80%)	High	P. falciparum P. vivax	During	IRS Active case detection	MDA decreased morbidity but unsuccessful at interrupting autumn transmission
Kondrashin Azerbaijan 1971-1975 (unpublished)	Mass primaquine prophylactic treatment (MPPT): Elimination	PQ 15mg daily for 14 days Total duration: 5 years	All individuals (except for infants, pregnant women, chronically ill)	DOT	10,587- 106,555 (87-93%)	Low (high during epidemic)	P. vivax	Outside	None	MPPT effectively controlled epidemic and decreased PP to 0.7% at end of intervention; PP maintained for several years with only residual active foci
Kondrashin DPRK 2002-2007 (unpublished)	Mass primaquine prophylactic treatment (MPPT): Control	PQ 15mg daily for 14 days Total duration: 6 years	All individuals ≥5 years (except pregnant women)	DOT	378,366- 4,904,261 (94-98%)	Low (high during epidemic)	P. vivax	Before	None	MPPT decreased PP considerably but failed to interrupt transmission
Aliev ²⁵ Tajikistan 1998-1999	Mass treatment: Outbreak control and elimination	PQ (dosage and regimen ND) Total duration: 2 years	All individuals	DOT	257,200- 421,000 (ND)	Low (high during epidemic)	ND	Before	IRS Larviciding	MDA reduced incidence to 0.56/1000 persons/month but failed to interrupt transmission

Dapeng ¹⁰ China 1985-1994	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 1500mg + PQ 90mg for 3 consecutive days Total duration: 10 years	All individuals where incidence was <u>></u> 5% in previous season	ND	1,052,170 over 10 years (ND)	Low	P. falciparum P. vivax	During and outside	IRS Bed nets	<i>P. falciparum</i> incidence reduced to 0 and <i>P. vivax</i> incidence to 0.05/1000 persons/month Success attributed to vector control interventions
Dola ²⁶ Zanzibar 1968	Mass treatment: Elimination	CQ 300mg + camoquin 300mg + PQ 30mg every two months Total duration: ND	All individuals	ND	124,065 (84%)	Low	P. falciparum	Before	None	MDA was ineffective: incidence increased to 10.5/1000 persons/month vs pre- intervention level of 9.7/1000 persons/month
Gabaldon ²⁷ Venezuela 1957-1958	Mass treatment: Elimination	PYR 50mg weekly Total duration: 24 weeks	All individuals \geq 1 month	DOT	111,995 (ND)	Low	P. vivax	During	IRS Community participation incentives	MDA interrupted transmission, brought PP to 0% but failed to cure all <i>vivax</i> infections; transmission resumed after relapses occurred
Garfield ²⁰ Nicaragua 1981-1982	Mass treatment: Control and elimination	CQ 350-1500mg + PQ 10-45mg over 3 days Total duration: 3 days	All individuals ≥ 1 year	ND	1,900,000 (80%)	Low to moderate	P. falciparum P. vivax	Beginning	Larviciding, vector control, community education	Incidence of <i>P. falciparum</i> declined for 7 months and <i>P.</i> <i>vivax</i> declined for 4 months; both then returned to pre- intervention levels
Hsiang ¹⁸ Jiangsu 1973-1983	Seasonal mass treatment: Control of epidemic	<u>1973-1976</u> : PQ 30mg daily for 4 days + PYR 50mg daily for 2 days Total duration: 4 years <u>1977-1983</u> : PQ 22.5mg + PYR 12.5mg daily for 8 days Total duration: 7 years	<u>1973-1976</u> : All individuals in rural counties <u>1977-1983</u> : All index cases from previous year and their contacts	DOT	<u>1973-1976</u> : 13,389,482 - 27,974,966 (ND) <u>1977-1983</u> : 4,446,687 - 16,534,356 (ND)	Low (high during epidemic)	P. vivax Minimal P. falciparum	<u>1973-1976</u> : Before/ beginning <u>1977-1983</u> : During	Bed nets (very low coverage), intermittent chemo- prophylaxis	MDA was effective at decreasing parasite reservoir, but did not interrupt transmission API dropped from 113.6 in 1973 to 2.1 in 1983
Hsiang ¹⁸ Jiangsu 2000-2009	Focal mass treatment: Control of epidemic	CQ 400mg daily for 3 days + PQ 22.5mg daily for 8 days Total duration: 10 years	Index cases of past 1-2 years and all contacts (excluded <3 years, pregnant, seriously ill)	DOT	1,863,399- 1,926,183 (60-98%)	Low	P. vivax	Before	Bed nets (0-8% coverage) IRS (not in all counties)	Targeted MDA was effective in decreasing API to 0 in some areas, but transmission was not interrupted

*Large-scale defined as target populations > 100,000 persons

Note: High endemicity = \geq 40% parasite prevalence; moderate endemicity = 5.1-39.9% parasite prevalence; low endemicity = \leq 5% parasite prevalence

API: annual parasite index; CQ: chloroquine; DOT: directly observed treatment; IRS: indoor residual spraying; ND: not described; MPPT: mass primaquine prophylactic treatment; PP: parasite prevalence; PQ: primaquine; PYR: pyrimethamine

Outcome measures

Of all outcome measures reported, parasite prevalence was the most common (22% of total), followed by gametocyte prevalence (11.2%) and incidence (case or parasite - 10.1%). Few studies looked at entomological measures such as sporozoite rate or entomological inoculation rate (EIR).

Drug regimens

Drug regimens were diverse, and varied depending on location and timeframe of the study as well as biological concerns including glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency prevalence and drug resistance. Nearly half of the published studies used monotherapy; of those, chloroquine was the most common drug of choice (28%), followed by proguanil (18%) and pyrimethamine (14%). The most frequent combination therapies were chloroquine + primaquine (22%), chloroquine + pyrimethamine (14%), and mepacrine + plasmoquine (11%). 8-aminoquinolines were included in 70 of the studies (38% of total), five of which were monotherapies with either plasmoquine or primaquine. A selection of primaquine-containing regimens is shown in Table 3. Of the 12 successful studies, six included 8-aminoquinolines in combination with other drugs. Two used chloroquine and three combined chloroquine and pyrimethamine. Drug regimens documented in unpublished reports were equally diverse, including primaquine monotherapy, artemisinin derivatives, and various combinations with and without primaquine. Drug dosages and schedules across all MDA studies and programmatic campaigns, published and unpublished, ranged from a single treatment dose given one time to weekly chemoprophylactic doses given over the course of several years.

MDA Strategy	Drug regimen	G6PD	Adverse events	Outcome	Reference*					
		considerations								
Primaquine to target <i>P. vivax</i> malaria										
Mass primaquine prophylactic treatment (MPPT)	Total PQ dose = 210 mg 15 mg PQ given as directly observed treatment (DOT) daily for 14 days in seasonal settings, either before or after transmission season	G6PD-deficient patients included with close monitoring	Severe side effects related to G6PD deficiency (i.e. red or black urine) did not exceed 1%; minor side effects did not exceed 4%	Considerably reduced case load of <i>vivax</i> malaria where alternate forms of malaria control were unavailable	Anatoly Kondrashin: unpublished review of Azerbaijan, Afghanistan, Tajikistan, and Democratic People's Republic of Korea, 1970s-2000s					
Nissan Method	Total PQ dose = 360 – 720 mg 45-60 mg PQ given weekly for 8-12 weeks, administered as DOT by local residents	Nissan: 30% prevalence of G6PD deficiency (GdA ⁻¹);G6PD- deficient patients included	Hemoglobin levels in G6PDd checked weekly; weeks 1 and 2 did not drop below 2 g%, rising by week 3; at end of 8 weeks, about 1 g% higher than start of MDA	Pf eliminated completely from Nissan; Pv reduced to low level but not eliminated due to presence of PQ- tolerant Chesson- like strains	Karl Rieckmann: personal account of Nissan experience in early 1960s					
	Total PQ dose = 360 mg CQ 600 mg + SP 1500mg/75mg + PQ 45mg once a week in weeks 1, 5 and 9; CQ 300mg + PQ 45mg once a week in weeks 2-4 and 6-8	G6PD- deficiency not detected on Aneityum	None reported	Sustained interruption of malaria transmission	Kaneko 2000 ¹⁴ Vanuatu					
Chinese Method	Total PQ dose = 180 mg PQ 22.5 mg daily for 8 days and PYR 50 mg daily for 2 days administered to entire villages in the spring, prior to transmission season	G6PD-deficient patients included	Not systematically monitored; 49 cases of acute hemolysis reported in five studies that identified severe adverse events from G6PDd patients	Seasonal MDA administered to almost 30 million people, malaria incidence decreased by 56.7% 1973-76, and by 12.4% 1976- 83	Hsiang 2013 ¹⁸ Jiangsu China, 1973- 1983					

Table 3: Examples of primaquine-containing MDA drug regimens

	Total PQ dose = 180 mg CQ 400 mg daily for 3 days + PQ 22.5 mg daily for 8 days, targeted to household members and neighbors of index cases in the spring	G6PD-deficient patients included	5 subjects in 2003 and 2 in 2007; some experienced hemolysis	Malaria incidence decreased by 14%- 43.7% in the two counties where MDA was conducted	Hsiang 2013 ¹⁸ Jiangsu China, 2000 - 2009
	Total PQ dose = 180 mg During low transmission season: CQ 1200mg total + PQ 180 mg total over 8 days; during high transmission season: CQ 300 mg + PQ 30mg twice per month	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	Incidence of vivax malaria decreased and parasite prevalence maintained at 0% for three years of post-MDA follow-up	Liu 1986 ⁸ China
Singh Method	Total PQ dose = 75 mg PQ 15mg/day for 5 days + CQ 600 mg single dose for 4 rounds; first round treated everyone; subsequent rounds targeted only febrile cases and their contacts	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	Vivax transmission suppressed during study period; incidence decreased from 0.98 to 0.006 cases / 1000 persons/ month, maintained over 1- year follow-up	Singh 1968 ¹⁶ India
	Prin	naquine to target P	. <i>falciparum</i> gametocyte	s	
Fast Elimination of Malaria by Source Eradication (FEMSE) Method	Total PQ dose = 108 mg 125 mg of artemisinin + 750 mg piperaquine daily for 2 days, monthly for 2 months + PQ 9 mg every 10 days for 4 months	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	Parasite prevalence rate reduced from 21.6% to 0.86% after 18 months	Li 2007, unpublished study in Comoros
	Total PQ dose = 162 mg 125 mg of artemisinin +750 mg piperaquine daily for 2 days + PQ 9 mg every 10 days for 6 months	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	Parasite prevalence rate reduced from 52.3% to 2.6% after 3 years	Song 2010 ¹⁷ Cambodia
Targeted Chemo- Elimination Method	Total PQ dose = 45 mg 40 mg of dihydroartemisinin + 320 mg piperaquine daily as DOT for 3 days + PQ 0.25 mg/kg on day 1; regimen given monthly for three months	G6PD-deficient patients included	Results not yet available	Results not yet available	Mahidol-Oxford Research Unit Protocol
Sulfadoxine pyrimethamine + primaquine method	Total PQ dose = 60 mg SP 1430-70 mg + PQ 30 mg once per month for 2 months	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	P. falciparum prevalence temporarily decreased for 2 months after intervention; P. vivax prevalence did not change	Hii 1987 ²⁸ Malaysia
	Total PQ dose = 84-120 mg Sulfadoxine 25-30 mg/kg + pyrimethamine 1.25-1.5 mg/kg single dose + PQ 0.7- 1.0 mg/kg once per week for 2 weeks.	G6PD-deficient patients included	None reported	No difference between "control" and intervention group since control group was treated a few months after the intervention group	Doi 1989 ²⁹ Indonesia

*All studies published unless otherwise noted

Emergence of drug resistance was observed or suspected in 16 of the 182 published studies (9%), nearly all of which involved monotherapy. Seven studies based in Africa documented resistance to pyrimethamine, three studies described resistance to proguanil in South East Asia, and two involved chloroquine resistance in Papua New Guinea and Pakistan. Three additional studies documented pyrimethamine or chloroquine resistance in their respective areas, but treatment failures were avoided through the use of combination drug regimens. All of the MDA campaigns described in unpublished literature involved combination therapies, other than primaquine monotherapy, and resistance was not reported. Key informants currently working in the Greater Mekong subregion where artemisinin resistance has been documented^{30–32} emphasized the importance of rapidly interrupting transmission within targeted Mekong border populations before it spreads beyond the area of concern. MDA drug regimens in these areas involve artemisinin combination therapies (ACTs) + primaquine.

Only five published studies that included 8-aminoquinolines documented the prevalence of G6PD deficiency in the target population (ranging from 2.1% to 17.1%), all of which were published since 1989. G6PD deficiency was a greater consideration in the unpublished work obtained from and discussed with key informants, some of which dated back to the 1960s. Deficiency prevalence was obtained prior to the onset of interventions and patients were monitored closely for hemolysis and other adverse events throughout drug administration. In the event that patients did experience hemolysis, 8-aminoquinoline was discontinued and in China and DPRK they were excluded from future treatments. Alternatively, in Azerbaijan and Afghanistan, a modified drug regimen was implemented in which the standard 14-day course of primaquine treatment was interrupted and drugs were not given on Days 5-7, then were resumed on Day 8. Because this intermittent schedule was thought to disrupt the hemolytic effects of the drug, it was deemed safe for populations with high prevalence of G6PD deficiency.³³ Regardless of drug regimen, no deaths were documented in any of the unpublished work; patients recovered with routine supportive care and no long-term hospitalization or blood transfusions were necessary. Key informants noted that directly observed treatment (DOT) is essential for monitoring and quickly identifying potential hemolysis cases, and that medical interventions, including blood transfusion, should be readily accessible.

Key informants firmly believed that inclusion of an 8-aminoquinoline in the drug regimen, either primaquine or tafenoquine, was essential for clearing gametocytes and hypnozoites and eliminating the last reservoirs of infection. However, one key informant expressed concern that there is still no published evidence that these drugs interrupt transmission at the community level. Most key informants believed that combination therapy using ACTs plus a single round of low-dose primaquine to avoid G6PD deficiency complications is the best regimen for elimination in *P. falciparum* endemic areas, in contrast to the multiple rounds of primaquine necessary for *P. vivax* elimination. The longer action of tafenoquine was cited by one key informant as an advantage over primaquine, although another believes duration of action is not a significant issue in very low transmission settings and that primaquine is equally effective for *P. falciparum* elimination. In a departure from the ACTs + 8-aminoquinoline consensus, one key informant stated that a multi-day drug combination is too complicated and increases the likelihood that the intervention will fail due to low adherence. Lastly, two key informants mentioned the role of alternative drugs, including ivermectin and methylene blue, and their potential for use in MDA regimens after further research has been done.

Co-Interventions

Co-interventions were deployed in 86 of the 182 published studies (47%). Of these, 65% conducted IRS, primarily using DDT, 33% conducted chemical or biological larval control, 23% carried out environmental management (e.g. vegetation clearing, waterway construction), and 16% distributed bed nets, treated or untreated. Over one-third of the studies implemented multiple co-interventions. Other co-interventions described less frequently included MDA for other diseases, health education, and community surveillance. Ten of the 12 successful studies implemented co-interventions: eight used IRS, three used insecticide treated nets

(ITNs), and two used multiple measures. In interviews, key informants agreed that vector control is essential and should be used prior to commencement of MDA in order to bring transmission down to very low levels. IRS and net distribution were the most frequently cited co-interventions, but the use of transmission-blocking vaccines was mentioned as well. One key informant questioned the role of traditional vector control methods in areas with negligible transmission but high prevalence of asymptomatic, submicroscopic infections, stating that in these settings, preferred co-interventions are strong surveillance and early diagnosis and treatment of imported cases. Two key informants addressed the importance of understanding local vector bionomics when planning co-interventions.

Delivery methods and community engagement

The published studies did not thoroughly or consistently explain their **delivery methods**, but those that did used a wide range of approaches. 58% involved DOT, while 4% did not and the remaining 38% were not described. Of the 12 successful studies that reported the method of drug delivery, six were DOT. Of the DOT studies, drug distribution and observation was performed by community volunteers, local health workers, study authors and/or external organizations. Population censuses and the mobilization of local workers to monitor the movement of people in and out of a study area were employed in some studies. One study²⁷ described the use of incentives for community participation and adherence to the full MDA regimen, specifically lottery tickets for prizes (sewing machines, bicycles, etc). Six of the successful studies utilized DOT with trained volunteers or the study authors themselves, while delivery methods in the five others were not described.

Different types of **community engagement** were described in the successful studies as well, namely, working with community leaders and elders to ensure cooperation, extensive health education and outreach, and active participation through the formation of volunteer malaria teams. Two study authors specifically noted that strong community participation was crucial for success. According to several key informants, DOT and engagement with the community are vital for the success of MDA. While it may not always be logistically feasible, key informants stated that house-to-house visits are preferred over a centralized distribution location in order to ensure high coverage. Local health workers or volunteers should be utilized for drug distribution since they understand the environment and local customs, and will garner more trust and acceptance among their peers. In addition to extensive outreach and education efforts among local leaders and the larger community, one key informant emphasized the importance of linking participation in MDA with tangible benefits (e.g. child survival, increased productivity and income) when engaging with the target population. In areas with low transmission, another key informant recommended working with older members of the community who may remember when malaria was more prevalent and be more invested in preventing its return.

Study outcomes

Many of the published studies were deemed successful by the authors in achieving their stated objectives, yet for the purposes of this background paper, only 12 met a definition of success that will be most applicable to malaria elimination settings (zero indigenous malaria cases in the target population maintained for at least six months after the end of drug administration). The majority of the studies (63%) had a follow-up period of less than six months, preventing an assessment of the interventions' long-term effects on transmission. Many studies were able to reduce parasite prevalence in the target population, but either were not able to reach zero or prevalence went back up shortly after the drug administration was ceased, a finding echoed in the Cochrane Review.⁵

The primary factors for a successful MDA campaign mentioned almost universally by key informants were: achieving at least 80% coverage of the target population with drug administration based on mathematical modeling³⁴ (some cited 90% coverage as the minimum necessary), DOT, short-term interventions, high coverage

of vector control interventions, and the use of 8-aminoquinolines. Among the published studies, coverage and adherence outcomes were either not consistently measured or simply were not reported; only 51% of the studies documented coverage achieved, and 28% addressed adherence. 74 of the published studies (41%) reported achievement of >80% coverage of the targeted population, 77% of which involved DOT. An additional 19 studies reached 60-80% coverage, with over half using DOT. DOT was not a guarantee of high coverage; at least 12% of the published studies that involved DOT were not able to achieve 80% coverage. It is important to note that in some of the studies, these measures were described using verbal approximations (e.g. "nearly 100%"²⁹), and not hard numbers.

Of the unpublished work, the campaign in the Solomon Islands is a prime example of the importance of community engagement to achieve high coverage. The project targeted a population of around 30,000 in the capital city and was thoroughly planned, well-staffed with local workers, and involved exhaustive community outreach to ensure participation, yet coverage was only 67% due to refusal of the targeted population to take drugs when they were not ill. The 3-day drug regimen further contributed to lack of participation. In comparison, the MDA carried out in Nissan was notable for achieving nearly 100% coverage, attributed to a high degree of community cooperation and a strong health infrastructure that facilitated intense screening of all arrivals to the island. Strong engagement with the community also allowed for rigorous monitoring of adverse events; G6PD deficiency prevalence on Nissan was 30%, but high weekly doses of primaquine did not cause any significant hemolytic effects.

The study documenting MDA carried out in Jiangsu Province, China in the 1970s¹⁸ describes the use of primaquine to interrupt *P. vivax* transmission on a massive scale. *P. falciparum* had nearly been eliminated in Jiangsu, but *P. vivax* epidemics persisted during this period. Entire counties, nearly 30 million people in total, were given directly observed seasonal 'spring treatment' by teams of community health workers and local public health officers prior to the onset of the transmission season, largely in the absence of vector control measures. In later years, a stratified approach was used, in which MDA was targeted to index cases from the previous year and their immediate contacts; this method allowed for improved targeting, reduced worker burden, and greater compliance. Despite the enormous scope of primaquine distribution, the incidence of severe adverse events was negligible and no deaths occurred, according to available records. After ten years, annual parasite index (API) of *P. vivax* in Jiangsu Province dropped from 113.6 to 2.1 per 1,000 population. This experience demonstrates that with ample, well-organized human resources and a DOT delivery strategy, MDA can be implemented on a large scale with success.

The vital role of primaquine in controlling *P. vivax* epidemics is further illustrated in a series of unpublished accounts of MDA in Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, DPRK, and Tajikistan. In these countries, MDA consisted of 14-day courses of primaquine as monotherapy, and the approach was called mass primaquine prophylactic treatment (MPPT). Intermittent MPPT was implemented in Afghanistan and Azerbaijan to prevent hemolytic effects arising from G6PD deficiency, and in all areas adverse events were closely monitored. As in Jiangsu Province, safety issues were rare: across all locations and years, less than 4% of nearly 9 million people treated experienced adverse events, with no blood transfusions reported. In contrast with the Jiangsu account, vector control interventions were considered key to the success of MPPT. However, in Azerbaijan and DPRK a lack of resources led to implementation of MPPT in the absence of vector control, and in Afghanistan, routine vector control activities were believed to be of poor quality and of limited efficacy. Despite these problems, considerable case reductions and interruption of *P. vivax* epidemics were seen in Afghanistan, Azerbaijan and DPRK, all of which were able to achieve drug coverage of over 90% in populations ranging from 24,000 to 500,000. In Tajikistan, the effects of MPPT were not as pronounced and this was attributed to the fact that population coverage never exceeded 80%. In all locations, obtaining support of local authorities and cooperation

of communities was noted as important for ensuring good coverage and efficiency of drug distribution, as was the use of DOT by teams of primaquine distributors that each served 200-250 people.

Limitations

While the research conducted for this background paper was comprehensive, significant limitations exist. The high variability of study methods and settings as well as the poor quality of data derived from the published literature pose major difficulties for analysis and the drawing of firm, generalizable conclusions based on study results. Over three-fourths of the studies document work done prior to 1970, thus much of this historical expertise is no longer accessible.

Combining the many and somewhat disparate forms of MDA (see Figure 1) into one review may have introduced bias and weakened our findings. For example, the majority of studies documented chemoprophylaxis interventions which involved frequent dosing and were carried out mainly during the malaria transmission season. There were a limited number of transmission-interrupting studies which had fewer rounds of drug delivery and most often occurred during the low transmission season. This bias may have affected our overall conclusions on effect and success of the various forms of MDA. However, the more selective Cochrane Review supports the findings of this review, and by including a wider variety of studies along with key informant input, a broader assessment of factors such as delivery, size of target population, and effects of endemicity could be carried out.

Key informants provided valuable insights based on decades of institutional knowledge and personal experience with MDA, however, this input cannot be treated in the same manner as data derived from a rigorous published study. In addition, not everyone who has experience with MDA was interviewed and the search for unpublished work was not exhaustive, introducing reporting bias to these findings.

Finally, the definition of success used to evaluate the 182 published studies is more applicable to *P. falciparum* than *P. vivax*. The six-month transmission-free period is not sufficient for assessing clearance of hypnozoites, the dormant liver stage of *P. vivax*.

Discussion and conclusions

This extensive review of published, unpublished and grey literature on the topic of malaria chemoprevention has revealed some important learning points that support MDA as a possible intervention that previous, more restricted reviews were unable to do. The learning points support recommendations and highlight important gaps in knowledge that need to be addressed in order to move toward broader implementation.

Learning points

1. Mass drug administration has been used in large-scale interventions for malaria control, elimination and in response to outbreaks.

In this review we found 12 reports of malaria MDA for both *Plasmodium falciparum* and *vivax* used in populations over 100,000, including reports in China that targeted nearly 30 million people (see Table 2).

2. Mass drug administration and mass chemoprophylaxis are successful at reducing parasite prevalence, but once stopped, there is a tendency for malaria to return to previous transmission levels, particularly in high transmission settings.

Supporting previous reviews, including the Cochrane Review, our analysis found that in the majority of cases, MDA and mass chemoprophylaxis reduced parasite prevalence (or other measures of

transmission) only temporarily. Shortly after drug administration concluded, transmission returned to pre-intervention levels, even when combined with vector control and involving an 8-aminoquinoline.

3. Select mass drug administration programs have been successful.

In this review we found 12 published studies that documented sustained benefit from MDA out of 43 studies that reported follow up beyond 6 months after the intervention period (see Table 1). In addition, we discussed unpublished reports that described successes in program-implemented MDA (see Table 2 and text). These published studies and unpublished reports are of varying quality; results cannot be assured nor can causality be attributed to MDA in most settings. However, the fact that these interventions took place and to the scale and degree of success reported is notable and worthy of consideration. Particular learning points are below:

a. Endemicity

Only 13% of published studies that indicated a baseline endemicity took place in low endemic settings, while in the case of program implemented MDA documented in unpublished reports and discussed with key informants, 83% took place in low endemic settings. The published studies may have taken place in higher endemic settings so as to be more likely to measure an outcome³⁵ and because MDA was a recommended strategy during the Global Malaria Eradication Programme (GMEP) era. As a result, there is a bias toward reports from moderate and high endemic settings. Conversely, because of our selection of key informants, most of whom have carried out programmatic MDA, there may be a bias toward low endemic settings. Nevertheless, it is apparent that MDA has been thought to be more successful in low endemic settings as compared to high or moderate settings. In addition, the infrastructure and human resources needed to deliver MDA are more likely to be available and more readily deployed in low endemic settings where infections are more clustered and countries tend to be better resourced.

b. P. vivax

Although the Cochrane Review noted that MDA had a larger impact on *P. falciparum* than *P. vivax*, there is strong evidence presented here for the use of MDA in the elimination of *P. vivax* in seasonal settings. Programs involving multi-day regimens of primaquine through DOT, with or without vector control, resulted in decreased prevalence of malaria and interruption of transmission when drug coverage was high.

c. Small-scale MDA in isolated settings with limited importation risk

Malaria was successfully eliminated from Aneityum (Vanuatu), Lanyu (Taiwan), and Nissan (Papua New Guinea), small island settings where ports of entry were controlled and population movement was closely monitored. Similar success was seen in village settings in Cambodia¹⁷, Lebanon⁹, and Malaysia¹³ that were relatively isolated, geographically.

d. MDA in high transmission settings must be accompanied by vector control and be prepared to continue for several years

MDA in high transmission settings often found in *P. falciparum* areas of sub-Saharan Africa is more challenging. All but one program failed; the successful program in Uganda^{12,36} was sustained for a long duration and accompanied by vector control.

4. Primaquine has been used in various doses and schedules to target either *P. vivax* hypnozoites or *P. falciparum* gametocytes.

Many MDA strategies have administered primaquine alone or in combination with a blood schizonticide, some of which are described in Table 3. This review provides a base on which to build evidence for the most suitable and efficacious drug regimens for MDA.

More safety data on primaquine regimens are needed. Studies on the safety of primaquine in G6PD replete and deficient populations are currently underway. Reassuringly, a recently completed review of evidence derived from previous studies involving 8-aminoquinolines by the WHO³⁷ concluded that there is a very low risk of hemolysis among subjects with mild or moderate G6PD deficiency when given a single dose of primaquine. In our review, it was found that primaquine regimens were accompanied by safety monitoring in populations that underwent MPPT (15mg of primaquine daily for 14 days), including in populations that were G6PD deficient. For example, in Azerbaijan, MPPT was given to a population of 30,000 with underlying G6PD rates of 7% (range 0 - 38% depending on village location and ethnicity). Only seven serious adverse events were recorded; nobody required a blood transfusion and all recovered.

5. Essential components of the delivery strategy

Through discussions with key informants, particularly those who actually implemented MDA campaigns in the field, essential parts of the delivery strategy have been identified:

a. Directly observed treatment (DOT)

All key informants saw DOT as an essential part of a delivery strategy. Of note, DOT using multiple day regimens has been achieved on a large scale.

b. Safety monitoring

Safety monitoring was built into the DOT regimens for MPPT and supported the early detection of adverse events, followed by cessation of drug therapy in some cases. Monitoring involved the appropriate management of adverse events, including the capacity to provide blood transfusions.

c. Coverage (and mobility) monitoring

Coverage of greater than 80%, and in the context of MPPT, greater than 90% was repeatedly mentioned as key to success. In successful implementation, delivery systems were equipped to track people who did not receive MDA doses and included a system to find them. Some programs also monitored population mobility. Although not widely discussed in this paper, importation of parasites into a community already cleared of infection is a vital issue to be considered.

d. Community participation

For sustained impact of MDA alone or in combination with vector control, community participation, understanding and acceptance are essential. Even in the Solomon Islands, where intense efforts were made to educate and engage the community, MDA failed because people were unwilling to take MDA drugs when they were not sick.

Evidence gaps

1. The most efficacious regimen to use for MDA

The appropriate regimen will depend on the parasite species to be targeted and the endemicity setting. Optimizing the MDA regimen may be less important than optimizing the delivery system; however, specific questions should be answered, including the benefits of adding low-dose primaquine for *P. falciparum* or single-dose tafenoquine to ACTs for both *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax*, the addition of other anti-transmission agents such as ivermectin and methylene blue, and the role of new drugs as they become available.²

2. The size of population to target

Large populations have been targeted, but in the successful campaigns they were treated as small units. For example, groups of approximately 200-300 people were targeted by delivery teams for MPPT. This seems to be essential for achieving high coverage with DOT and active community participation. In addition, in very low transmission settings, it may be possible to target very few people. For example, in Jiangsu during the 2000s, for every case reported in a health facility, about 30 people (the household of the case and immediate neighbors) were treated with MDA. When targeting smaller populations, fewer resources are required, implementation is simpler, and the intervention is often more readily accepted by the community. Understanding the level of targeting that is needed for effective MDA will improve efficiency and scalability.

3. Combinations of interventions

Combinations of interventions will be needed except in highly seasonal settings where there is a season of absolutely no transmission, such as areas of seasonal *P. vivax* transmission. In other areas, all attempts should be made to minimize vector-human contact. If low season transmission only occurs in a few defined hotspots then vector interventions could be highly targeted. However, particularly in the case of *P. falciparum* elimination from higher transmission areas, vector control should be included as a central part of an MDA strategy. Novel combinations including ivermectin, the insecticide treatment of cows, and the use of vaccines such as RTS,S should be considered.

4. Timing of MDA

The review indicated that the majority of studies had been implemented during the malaria season, yet key informants all reported that when aiming to interrupt transmission and eliminate malaria, MDA should be done at the lowest point of transmission. The timing of delivery also needs to take into consideration local knowledge on population movement. For example, in the Gambia, many farmers travel early during the dry season in order to earn alternative income in other parts of the country, returning just before the rainy season to prepare the fields. MDA scheduled for the beginning of the dry season would thus miss a significant proportion of the community. Determining the best time to deliver MDA should be a priority and may be setting-specific. The development of tools to help programs identify when to implement would be beneficial.

5. Mobility and importation

This review did not address mobility and importation of parasites, but we recognize the importance of reducing the effect of population movement to ensure the sustained success of MDA (see UCSF Global Health Group Background Paper *Effective Responses to Malaria Importation*, 2014).

Recommendations

 Spring primaquine-based MDA / MPPT is a widely implemented intervention for seasonal *P. vivax* and appears to be successful in rapidly responding to epidemics
Discussions with stakeholders should take place to consider strategies like MPPT for the elimination of *P.*

vivax. Alternatively, the use of longer-acting tafenoquine as a single dose may improve compliance.^{38,39} Regardless of drug choice, these strategies must include adverse event monitoring.

2. In moderate and high transmission settings MDA programs should be designed to incorporate intensive vector control and continue for several years

A holistic approach to the use of MDA should be taken with a long-term view. MDA strategies must be recurrent and supported by intense vector control, and a post-MDA implementation plan must be established in advance.

3. Research agenda to address the lessons learned and gaps

a. Efficacy studies for MDA strategies (e.g. drug combinations) should be done in small rapid studies to determine what strategy feeds into the next stage

Efficient study designs should be used to rapidly indicate which drug combinations are most efficacious. End points can be measures of transmission such as change in sporozoite rate or parasite prevalence, and do not have to be demonstrations of interruption of transmission. Small differences in efficacy between combinations are likely to be less important than delivery in overall effectiveness.

b. Modeling the impact of MDA efficacy and MDA delivery

In order to determine the most efficient investments for BMGF, modeling may support the decision whether to focus on MDA drug combination, delivery of that drug or the delivery of a vector control/ MDA combination.

c. Large implementation studies should test delivery strategies, combinations of vector control and MDA and be designed for success (e.g. multiple years of intervention with a post-MDA plan)

Specific implementation studies should focus on the delivery method (see below for important elements) and include a long-term vision. Vector control should be included, particularly as part of a mop-up phase after a round of MDA. Finally, preparation for the post-MDA phase should be considered and built into the study at the outset.

4. Focus on small operational units for delivery

The elements for successful delivery involve small units for delivery and should contain the following:

- a. Directly observed treatment
- b. Safety monitoring
- c. Coverage and mobility monitoring
- d. High degree of community participation
- e. Operational sustainability where multiple rounds will be needed

5. More specific terms regarding the large scale use of antimalarial drugs in malaria control and elimination should be defined

This review highlights the fact that the term MDA encompasses a broad and disparate collection of strategies. Defining specific terms for the various strategies will lessen confusion and help facilitate the comparison of strategies.

In conclusion, MDA for malaria, especially with regard to seasonal settings of *P. vivax* transmission, should be considered for operational implementation. In higher endemic settings and for *P. falciparum* the importance of combining MDA with vector control and other interventions should be considered from the outset. Delivery of MDA strategies may be a more important factor in achieving impact than the efficacy of an individual MDA regimen. The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation investments into MDA as a strategy should reflect this value chain.

Appendix A: Mass drug administration for malaria (Cochrane Review)

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD008846.pub2/full

Appendix B: 240 studies assessed for inclusion

The 72 studies excluded from this background paper review are in *italics* and the 31 studies assessed as part of the Cochrane Review are in **bold** (note: Paik 1974 was included in the Cochrane Review as two separate studies, bringing the total number of assessed studies to 32)

- 1 Abraham AC, Samuels RD. Epidemiology of Malaria in the Nizam-sagar Ayacut Area, Niz'amabad District, Hyderabad State. Journal of the Malaria Institute of India 1944; 5: 305–318.
- 2 Afridi MK, Rahim A. Further Observation on the Interruption of Malaria Transmission with Single Dose of Pyrimethamine (Daraprim). Rivista di Parassitologia 1959; 20: 229–42.
- 3 Ahorlu CK, Koram KA, Seake-Kwawu A, Weiss MG. Two-year evaluation of Intermittent Preventive Treatment for Children (IPTc) combined with timely home treatment for malaria control in Ghana. Malaria Journal 2011; 10: 127.
- 4 Ahorlu CK, Koram KA, Seakey AK, et al. Effectiveness of combined intermittent preventive treatment for children and timely home treatment for malaria control. Malaria Journal 2009; 8: 292.
- 5 Aikins MK, Pickering H, Alonso PL, et al. A malarial control trial using insecticide-treated bed nets and targeted chemoprophylaxis in a rural area of The Gambia, West Africa. 4. Perceptions of the causes of malaria and of its treatment and prevention in the study area. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1993; 87: 25–30.
- 6 Alicata JE, Dajani SW. Observation of Pyrimethamine (Daraprim) as a Suppressant of Malaria in a Small Village in Jordan. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1955; 4: 1006–8.
- 7 Aliev S, Saparova N, Aliev S, Saparova N. Current malaria situation and its control in Tadjikistan. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2001; 35–7.
- 8 Aliev S. Malaria in the Republic of Tadjikistan. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2000; 27–9.
- 9 Allen SJ, Otoo LN, Cooke GA, O'Donnell A, Greenwood BM. Sensitivity of Plasmodium falciparum to Maloprim after five years of targeted chemoprophylaxis in a rural area of The Gambia. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1990; 84: 666–7.
- 10 Alonso PL, Lindsay SW, Armstrong Schellenberg JRM, et al. A malaria control trial using insecticide-treated bed nets and targeted chemoprophylaxis in a rural area of The Gambia, West Africa. 6. The impact of the interventions on mortality and morbidity from malaria. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1993; 87: 37–44.
- 11 Alonso PL, Lindsay SW, Armstrong Schellenberg JRM, et al. A malaria control trial using insecticide-treated bed nets and targeted chemoprophylaxis in a rural area of The Gambia, West Africa: 5. Design and implementation of the trial. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1993; 87, Supplement 2: 31–6.

- 12 Alving AS, Arnold J, Robinson DH. Mass therapy of subclinical vivax malaria with primaquine. Journal of the American Medical Association 1952; 149: 1558–62.
- 13 Amangel'diev KA. Current malaria situation in Turkmenistan. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2001; 37–9.
- 14 Archambeault CP. Mass Antimalarial Therapy in Veterans Returning from Korea. Journal of the American Medical Association 1954; 154: 1411–5.
- 15 Archibald H. Field trials of mass administration of antimalarial drugs in Northern Nigeria. World Health Organization 1960; 1–11.
- 16 Archibald H, Bruce-Chwatt LJ. Suppression of Malaria with Pyrimethamine in Nigerian Schoolchildren. World Health Organization Bulletin 1956; 15: 775–84.
- 17 Babione RW. Epidemiology of Malaria Eradication. II. Epidemiology of Malaria Eradication in Central America: A Study of Technical Problems. American Journal of Public Health 1966; 56: 76–90.
- 18 Banerjea R. The Control of Malaria in a Rural Area of West Bengal. Indian Journal of Malariology 1949; 3: 371–86.
- 19 Barber M. Malaria studies on the firestone rubber plantation in Liberia, West Africa. The American Journal of Hygiene 1932; 15: 601–33.
- 20 Barger B, Maiga H, Traore OB, et al. Intermittent preventive treatment using artemisinin-based combination therapy reduces malaria morbidity among school-aged children in Mali. Tropical Medicine and International Health 2009; 14: 784–91.
- 21 Baukapur SN, Babu CJ. A focal outbreak of malaria in Valsad District, Gujarat State. Journal of Communicable Diseases 1984; 16: 268–72.
- 22 Berberian DA, Dennis EW. Field Experiments with Chloroquine Diphosphate. American Journal of Tropical Medicine 1948; 28: 755–76.
- 23 Berny P, Nicolas L. Prophylaxis of Malaria with Quinacrine and Rhodoquine in French Guiana. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1936; 29: 870–872.
- 24 Bloch M. Teachings of the antimalarial campaign in El Salvador, Central America. Revista del Instituto de Investigaciones Medicas 1982; 11: 119–24.
- 25 Bojang KA, Akor F, Bittaye O, et al. A randomised trial to compare the safety, tolerability and efficacy of three drug combinations for intermittent preventive treatment in children. PLoS One 2010; 5: e11225.
- 26 Bojang KA, Sesay S, Sowe M, Conway D, Milligan P, Greenwood B. A study of intermittent preventive treatment and home based management of malaria in a rural area of The Gambia. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 2009; 81: 145.

- 27 Bojang KA, Akor F, Conteh L, et al. Two Strategies for the Delivery of IPTc in an Area of Seasonal Malaria Transmission in The Gambia: A Randomised Controlled Trial. Plos Medicine 2011; 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000409.
- 28 Boulanger D, Sarr JB, Fillol F, et al. Intermittent Preventive Treatment of malaria decreases the anti-Plasmodium schizont antibody response of Senegalese children. Tropical Medicine and International Health 2009; 14: 31.
- 29 Boulanger D, Sarr JB, Fillol F, et al. Immunological consequences of intermittent preventive treatment against malaria in Senegalese preschool children. Malaria Journal 2010; 9: 1.
- 30 Brink CJH. Malaria Control in the Northern Transvaal. South African Medical Journal 1958; 32: 800–9.
- 31 Bruce-Chwatt LJ. Mass drug administration for control of malaria. Lancet 1983; 2: 688.
- 32 Butler FA. Malaria Control Program on a South Pacific Base. Naval Medical Bulletin 1943; 41: 1603–12.
- 33 Cáceres J. Eficacia de la cura radical masiva en la incidencia malárica del Municipio Mariño, Estado Sucre. Bol malariol salud ambient 2004; 44: 45–9.
- 34 Cáceres J. Estado Sucre: El éxito antimalárico de Venezuela en el año 2003. Bol malariol salud ambient 2004; 44: 51–5.
- 35 Cáceres J, Pizzo N, Vela F, et al. Impacto de la Cura Radical Masiva sobre la incidencia malárica del estado Sucre, Venezuela. Bol malariol salud ambient 2005; 45: 27–36.
- 36 Cáceres G JL. Malaria antes y después de la cura radical masiva en el estado Sucre Venezuela. Bol malariol salud ambient 2008; 48: 83–90.
- 37 Canet J. Prevention of Malaria by the Administration of Synthetic Drugs in the Rubber Plantations. 1936.
- 38 Canet J. Results of Four Years Mass Prophylaxis with Synthetic Drugs in Plantations in North Cochin-China. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1939; 32: 58–69.
- 39 Canet J. First Trials in Southern Indo-China of Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria with Nivaquine B (Resoquine) and with Paludrine. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1949; 42: 165–8.
- 40 Canet J. Proguanil Resistance During Mass Prophylaxis of Hyperendemic P. falciparum Malaria in Indo-China. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1953; 46: 230–45.
- 41 Canet J, Farinaud E. First Trials of Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria in Indo-China by Daraprim. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1952; 45: 645–52.
- 42 Capponi M. Note on Malaria In Douala. Medecine Tropicale 1953; 13: 361-4.
- 43 Cavalie P. Les Campagnes Experimentales d'eradication du paludisme dans le nord de la Republique du Cameroun. Medecine Tropicale 1962; 22: 95–118.

- 44 Celli A. Malaria in Italy in 1912. Ann d'Igiene 1914; 24: 177–243.
- 45 Charles LJ. Comparative Assessment of Chloroquine and Amodiaquine as Malaria Suppressive in Nigeria. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 1958; 52.
- 46 Charles LJ, Van Der Kaay HJ, Vincke IH, Brady J. The Appearance of Pyrimethamine Resistance in Plasmodium falciparum following Self-Medication by a Rural Community in Ghana. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1962; 26: 103–8.
- 47 Charles LJ. Aftermath of a field trial in self-administered pyrimethamine in a Ghanaian community: the appearance of P. falciparum resistance. World Health Organization 1960; 1–11.
- 48 Chaudhuri RN. Suppressive Treatment of Malaria. Indian Journal of Malariology 1950; 4: 115–33.
- 49 Chen W, Wu K, Lin M, et al. A pilot study on malaria control by using a new strategy of combining strengthening infection source treatment and health education in mountainous areas of Hainan province. Chung Kuo Chi Sheng Chung Hsueh Yu Chi Sheng Chung Ping Tsa Chih 1999; 17: 1–4.
- 50 Cisse B, Cairns M, Faye E, et al. Randomized trial of piperaquine with sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine or dihydroartemisinin for malaria intermittent preventive treatment in children. PLoS ONE 2009; 4: e7164.
- 51 Cisse B, Sokhna C, Boulanger D, et al. Seasonal intermittent preventive treatment with artesunate and sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine for prevention of malaria in Senegalese children: a randomised, placebocontrolled, double-blind trial. Lancet 2006; 367: 659–67.
- 52 Ciuca M, Balteanu I, Alexa I. Experimental Control of Malaria with Synthetic Drugs. Arch Roumaines Path Exper et Microbiol 1937; 10: 295–306.
- 53 Clark HC, Komp WHW, Jobbins DM. A tenth year's observations on malaria in Panama, with reference to the occurrence of variations in the parasite index, during continued treatment with atabrine and plasmochine. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1942; 22: 191–216.
- 54 Clarke SE, Jukes MC, Njagi JK, et al. Effect of intermittent preventive treatment of malaria on health and education in schoolchildren: a cluster-randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 372: 127–38.
- 55 Clyde DF. Malaria Control in Tanganyika under the German Administration. Part I. East African Medical Journal 1961; 38: 27–42.
- 56 Clyde DF. Malaria Control in Tanganyika under the German Administration. Part II. Mass Chemoprophylaxis in Dar es Salaam. East African Medical Journal 1961; 38: 69–82.
- 57 Clyde DF. Mass Administration of an Antimalarial Drug combining 4-Aminoquinoline and 8-Aminoquinoline in Tanganyika. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1962; 27: 203–12.
- 58 Clyde DF, Webbe G, Shute GT. Single Dose Pyrimethamine Treatment of Africans during a Malaria Epidemic in Tanganyika. East African Medical Journal 1958; 35: 23–9.

- 59 Comer RD, Young MD, Johnson CM, Babione RW. Mass drug trial of pyrimethamine and primaquine for the eradication of malaria in Sambu, Republic of Panama. Boletin de la Oficina Sanitaria Panamericana 1971; 70: 226–33.
- 60 Cornille Brogger R, Mathews HM, Storey J, Ashkar TS, Brogger S, Molineaux L. Changing patterns in the humoral immune response to malaria before, during and after the application of control measures: a longitudinal study in the West African savanna. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1978; 56: 579– 600.
- 61 Coutinho Da Costa F, Viana De Meira L. Malaria and anti-malarial campaign in Bissau. Boletim Cultural da Guine Portuguesa 1962; 17: 119–165.
- 62 D'Anfreville De La Salle L. A Method of Dealing with Malaria in Morocco. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1930; 23: 53–58.
- 63 Danquah I, Dietz E, Zanger P, et al. Reduced efficacy of intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in malnourished children. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2009; 53: 1753–9.
- 64 Dapeng L LS. A successful control programme for falciparum malaria in Xinyang, China. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1996; 90: 100–2.
- 65 De Martin S, von Seidlein L, Deen JL, et al. Community perceptions of a mass administration of an antimalarial drug combination in The Gambia. Tropical Medicine & International Health 2001; 6: 442–8.
- 66 De Mello IF. Anti-Malaria Measures in Rural Areas of Portuguese India. Rivista di Malariologia 1938; 17: 208–224.
- 67 De Zulueta J. The results of the first year of a malaria eradication pilot project in Northern Kigezi (Uganda). East African Medical Journal 1961; 38: 1–26.
- 68 De Zulueta J. A malaria eradication experiment in the highlands of Kigezi (Uganda). East African Medical Journal 1964; 41: 102–20.
- 69 Decourt P. Mixed Drug Prophylaxis in Malaria. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1935; 28: 255–261.
- 70 Decourt P, Dupoux R, Belfort, Henry C. Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria in Tunisia. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1936; 29: 487–493.
- 71 Delmont J, Ranque P, Balique H, et al. Influence of antimalarial chemoprophylaxis on the health status of a rural community in West Africa. Preliminary results. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1981; 74: 600–10.
- 72 Desowitz RS, Spark RA. Malaria in the Maprik area of the Sepik region, Papua New Guinea: 1957-1984. 1987; 81: 175–6.
- 73 Diallo S, Coulibaly A, Konate M, Samba O. Chloroquine prophylaxis and the prevalence of malaria. Medecine d'Afrique Noire 1977; 24: 117–25.

- 74 Diallo S, Diouf F, Bah IB, N'Dir O, Victorius A. Clinical consequences of chloroquine prophylaxis and of its discontinuation in an hyperendemic malarial region. Dakar Medical 1983; 28: 43–65.
- 75 Dicko A, Sagara I, Sissoko MS, et al. Impact of intermittent preventive treatment with sulphadoxinepyrimethamine targeting the transmission season on the incidence of clinical malaria in children in Mali. Malaria Journal 2008; 7: 123.
- 76 Dicko A, Diallo AI, Tembine I, et al. Intermittent preventive treatment of malaria provides substantial protection against malaria in children already protected by an insecticide-treated bednet in Mali: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. PLoS Med 2011; 8: e1000407.
- 77 Dixon DS. Paludrine (Proguanil) as a Malarial Prophylactic amongst African Labour in Kenya. East African Medical Journal 1950; 27: 127–30.
- 78 Doi H. Chemotherapeutic malaria control operation by single dose of Fandisar plus Primaquine in North Sumatra, Indonesia. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 1989; 20: 341–9.
- 79 Dola SK. Mass drug administration as a supplementary attack measure in malaria eradication programme. East African Medical Journal 1974; 51: 529–31.
- 80 Doucet G. Preliminary Note on the Use of S.N. 7618 (Chloroquine) in a Hyperendemic Malarial Locality. Annales de la Societe Belge de Medecine Tropicale 1947; 27: 341–6.
- 81 Downs WG. Results in an Infantry Regiment of Several Plans of Treatment for Vivax Malaria. American Journal of Tropical Medicine 1946; 26: 67–86.
- 82 Dupoux R, Barthas R, Antoine A, Garali MT. Recent Results of Experiment in Collective Antimalarial Prophylaxis in Tunis. Bulletin de l'Academie de Medecine 1939; 121: 591–595.
- 83 Dupoux R, Marini C, Barthas R. Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria in Tunis. Bulletin de l'Academie de Medecine 1937; 118: 368–372.
- 84 Edeson JFB, Wharton RH, Wilson T, Reid JA. An Experiment in the Control of Rural Malaria in Malaya. Medical Journal of Malaya 1957; 12: 319–47.
- 85 Escudie A, Hamon J, Schneider J. Results of mass antimalarial chemoprophylaxis with a combination of 4aminoquinoline and 8-aminoquinoline under rural African conditions in the region of Bobo-Dioulasso (Upper Volta) 1960. Comparative study in a zone treated with DDT and outside this zone. Medecine Tropicale 1962; 22: 268–305.
- 86 Farinaud M. Testing malaria prophylaxis in infants in Tri-Cu. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1934; 27: 568–575.
- 87 Farinaud ME, Choumara R. Malarial Infestation and Demography of the Mountain Population of Southern Indo-China (P.M.S.I.). Part 1: Malaria among the P.M.S.I.; Chemoprophylaxis and DDT Dusting. Bull Econ Indochine 1950; 5–22.

- 88 Gabaldon A, L G. An attempt to eradicate malaria by the weekly administration of pyrimethamine in areas of out-of-doors transmission in Venezuela. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1959; 8: 433–9.
- 89 Garfield R. Malaria control in Nicaragua: social and political influences on disease transmission and control activities. Lancet 1999; 354: 414–8.
- 90 Garfield RM, Vermund SH. Malaria in Nicaragua: an update. Lancet 1984; 1: 1125.
- 91 Garfield RM, Vermund SH, Garfield RM, Vermund SH. Changes in malaria incidence after mass drug administration in Nicaragua. Lancet 1983; 2: 500–3.
- 92 Garfield RM, Vermund SH, Garfield RM, Vermund SH. Health education and community participation in mass drug administration for malaria in Nicaragua. Social Science & Medicine 1986; 22: 869–77.
- 93 Gaud J, Houel G. Individual and Mass Treatment of Malaria by a Single Dose of Flavoquine (Amodiaquine). Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1953; 46: 565–71.
- 94 Gaud J, Schneider J, Mechali D. Comparative Efficacy of Nivaquine and Chloriguane in Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria. Bull Inst Hyg Maroc 1949; 9: 121–9.
- 95 Gilroy AB. Proguanil-Resistant Plasmodium falciparum in Assam. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 1952; 46: 121–6.
- 96 Gomez Mendoza I. Observations on the Programme for the Employment of Antimalarial Drugs in the Malaria Eradication Campaign in Venezuela. CNEP Boletin 1960; 4: 74–81.
- 97 Gribben G. Mass Treatment with Plasmoquine. The British Medical Journal 1933; 919–20.
- 98 Gruer N, Ousset JH, Lopez Manan CE. Special Problems in the Malaria Eradication Campaign. Anales del Instituto Nacional de Microbiologia 1962; 1: 127–31.
- *99 Gunther CE. Proguanil hydrochloride (paludrine) in the prevention and treatment of malaria in New Guinea. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1951; 44: 473–8.*
- 100 Gunther CE, Fraser NM, Wright WG. Proguanil and malaria among non-tolerant New Guinea natives. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1952; 46: 185–90.
- 101 Gusmao HH, Juarez E. A trial of CI-564 (Dapolar), a repository antimalarial for prophylaxis in Amapá, Brazil. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1970; 19: 394–400.
- 102 Han E-T, Lee D-H, Park K-D, et al. Reemerging vivax malaria: changing patterns of annual incidence and control programs in the Republic of Korea. The Korean Journal of Parasitology 2006; 44: 285–94.
- 103 Harwin RM. A field trial of the effectiveness of cycloguanil pamoate in Rhodesia. Central African Journal of Medicine 1973; 19: 9–12.

- 104 Henderson LH. Prophylaxis of Malaria in the Sudan, with Special Reference to the Use of Plasmoquine. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1934; 28: 157–164.
- 105 Hii JL, Vun YS, Chin KF, et al. The influence of permethrin-impregnated bednets and mass drug administration on the incidence of Plasmodium falciparum malaria in children in Sabah, Malaysia. Medical and Veterinary Entomology 1987; 1: 397–407.
- 106 Ho C. Studies on malaria in new China. Chinese Medical Journal 1965; 84: 491–497.
- 107 Houel G. Treatment of Epidemic-Malaria with a Single Dose of Pyrimethamine. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1954; 47: 262–4.
- 108 Houel G, Van Goor WT. Chemoprophylaxis of Malaria with Monthly Doses of Chloroquine and Amodiaquine. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1954; 47: 254–60.
- 109 Huehne WH. Experience with an insecticide/drug combination and observations on suppressive chloroquine/pyrimethamine treatment. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1971; 74: 110–6.
- 110 Janssens PG, Verstraete N, Sieniawski J. Trials of Collective Antimalaria Drug Prophylaxis among Children of Mine Workers at Kilo. Annales de la Societe Belge de Medecine Tropicale 1950; 30: 257–86; 449–78.
- 111 Joncour G. La Lutte Contre Le Paludisme A Madagascar. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1956; 15: 711–23.
- 112 Jones SA, Jones SA. Resistance of P. falciparum and P. malariae to pyrimethamine (daraprim) following mass treatment with this drug; a preliminary note. East African Medical Journal 1954; 31: 47–9.
- 113 Jones SA, Jones SA. Mass treatment with pyrimethamine; a study of resistance and cross resistance resulting from a field trial in the hyperendemic malarious area of Makueni, Kenya. September 1952-September 1953. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1958; 52: 547–61.
- 114 Kaneko A, Taleo GK, Rieckmann KH. Island malaria control in eastern Melanesia: 1. Malaria eliminated from a small island by 9-week mass drug administration and impregnated bednets. Japanese Journal of Parasitology 1994; 43: 358–70.
- 115 Kaneko A. A community-directed strategy for sustainable malaria elimination on islands: Short-term MDA integrated with ITNs and robust surveillance. Acta Tropica 2010; 114: 177–83.
- 116 Kaneko A, Taleo G, Kalkoa M, Yamar S, Kobayakawa T, Björkman A. Malaria eradication on islands. Lancet 2000; 356: 1560–4.
- 117 Karimov SS, Kadamov DS, Murodova Nk, Karimov SS, Kadamov DS, Murodova NK. The current malaria situation in Tadjikistan. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2008; 33–6.
- 118 Kingsbury AN AC. A field experiment on the value of plasmoquine in the prophylaxis of malaria. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medecine and Hygiene 1931; 25: 159–72.

119 Kligler IJ, Mer G. Periodic Intermittent Treatment with Chinoplasmine as a Measure of Malaria Control in a Hyperendemic Area. Rivista di Malariologia 1931; 10: 425–438.

- 120 Klopper S. The Suppressive Action of Paludrine in Benign Tertian (Vivax) Malaria. Documenta Neerlandica et Indonesica de Morbis Tropicis 1949; 1: 50–4.
- 121 Komp WHW, Clark HC. A Fourth Year's Observations on Malaria in Panama, with Reference to Control with Atabrine and Plasmochin. American Journal of Tropical Medicine 1935; 15: 131–154.
- 122 Konaté AT, Yaro JB, Ouédraogo AZ, et al. Intermittent Preventive Treatment of Malaria Provides Substantial Protection against Malaria in Children Already Protected by an Insecticide-Treated Bednet in Burkina Faso: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. PLoS Medicine 2011; 8: e1000408.
- 123 Kondrashin AV, Sanyal MC. Mass drug administration in Andhra Pradesh in areas under Plasmodium falciparum containment programme. Journal of Communicable Diseases 1985; 17: 293–9.
- 124 Kweku M, Liu D, Adjuik M, et al. Seasonal intermittent preventive treatment for the prevention of anaemia and malaria in Ghanaian children: a randomized, placebo controlled trial. PLoS ONE 2008; 3: e4000.
- 125 Kweku M, Webster J, Adjuik M, et al. Options for the delivery of intermittent preventive treatment for malaria to children: a community randomised trial. PLoS ONE 2009; 4: e7256.
- 126 Lacroix M, Mazzuca M, Bonnet M. Proguanil and Malaria Prophylaxis in Two Algerian Villages. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1952; 45: 460–4.
- 127 Lahon H, De Smet M, Boets L. Results of 5 Years of Mass Chemoprophylaxis with Pyrimethamine in Yangambi, Congo. Annales de Societe Belge de Medecine Tropicale 1960; 40: 651–73.
- 128 Laing AB. Malaria suppression with fortnightly doses of pyrimethamine with sulfadoxine in the Gambia. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1970; 513–20.
- 129 Laing AB. The impact of malaria chemoprophylaxis in Africa with special reference to Madagascar, Cameroon, and Senegal. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1984; 62: 41–8.
- 130 Lakshmanacharyulu T, Guha AK, Kache SR. Control of Malaria Epidemics in a River Valley Project. Bulletin of the Indian Society for Malaria & Other Communicable Diseases 1968; 94-105.
- 131 Levenson ED, Fastorskaya EI, Khovanskaya AI, Duk-Hanina NN. Experiences in the Control of a Malarial Focus in the North (Arehangel Région) by Mass Chemoprophylaxis and Systematic Treatment of Malaria Patients. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 1943; 12: 23–38.
- 132 Liljander A, Chandramohan D, Kweku M, et al. Influences of intermittent preventive treatment and persistent multiclonal Plasmodium falciparum infections on clinical malaria risk. PLoS ONE 2010; 5: e13649.
- 133 Liu YL, Wu KS, Jia JX. Integrated approach in malaria control including environmental management to reduce man-mosquito contact and reduction of infection source in Huanghuai Plain. Journal of Parasitology and Parasitic Diseases 1986; 4: 246–50.

- 134 Lysenko AY. Use of quinocide in treatment and prophylaxis of vivax malaria. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1960; 22: 641–62.
- 135 Miller M. Suppression of malaria by monthly drug administration. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1955; 4: 790–9.
- 136 MacCormack CP, Lwihula G. Failure to participate in a malaria chemosuppression programme: North Mara, Tanzania. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1983; 86: 99–107.
- 137 Mackerras MJ, Saxdars DF. Malaria in the Torres Straits Islands. 1954.
- 138 Maiga H, Barger B, Traore O, Tekete M, Timbine A, Dara A. Intermittent preventive treatment using artemisinin-based combination therapy reduces malaria morbidity among school-aged children in Mali. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 2009; 81: 42.
- 139 Malaria in the Army in India. The Lancet 1934; 223: 802.
- 140 Mason J, Hobbs J. Malaria field studies in a high-incidence coastal area of El Salvador, C.A. Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization 1977; 11: 17–30.
- 141 Mason J, Hobbs J. A study of the epidemiology of malaria in a high-incidence coastal area of El Salvador, C. A. Revista del Instituto de Investigaciones Medicas 1973; 2: 51–4, 55–7.
- 142 Mastbaum O. Past and Present Position of Malaria in Swaziland. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1957; 60: 119–27.
- 143 McGregor LA, Williams K, Walker GH, Rahman AK. Cycloguanil Pamoate in the Treatment and Suppression of Malaria in the Gambia, West Africa. British Medical Journal 1966; 695–701.
- 144 Melik-Adamian SS. Acriquine in the Mass Treatment of Malarious Children. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 1938; 7: 178–191.
- 145 Mendez Galvan JF, Guerrero Alvarado J, Gonzalez Mora M, Perez Landa M, Quintero Cabanillas R. Evaluation of alternative schemes of treatment for malaria control. Salud Publica de Mexico 1984; 26: 561–72.
- 146 Mercier S. Epidemiological and Demographic Results of Malaria Control by Residual Spraying in Tananarive in 1950. Revue du Paludisme et de Medicine Tropicale 1952; 10: 21–31.
- 147 Merle F, Maillot L. Vector control campaigns against malaria in Brazzaville. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1955; 48: 242–269.
- 148 Metselaar D. Seven Years' Malaria Research and Residual House Spraying in Netherlands New Guinea. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1961; 10: 327–34.
- 149 Mezincesco D, Cornelson DA. The Prophylactic Treatment of Malaria with Atebrin and with Quinine. Arch Roumaines Path Exper et Microbiol 1935; 8: 449–470.

- 150 Molineaux L. A longitudinal study of human malaria in the West African savanna in the absence of control measures: relationships between different Plasmodium species, in particular P. falciparum and P. malariae. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1980; 29: 725–37.
- 151 Molineaux L, Cornille-Brogger R, Mathews HM, Storey J. Longitudinal serological study of malaria in infants in the West African savanna: Comparisons in infants exposed to, or protected from, transmission from birth. Bulletin of the World Health Organisation 1978; 56: 573–8.
- 152 Molineaux L, Gramiccia G. The Garki Project. Research on the epidemiology and control of malaria in the Sudan Savanna of West Africa. Geneva, World Health Organization 1980.
- 153 Monteny VAR. Comparative Efficacy of Chloroquine and Pyrimethamine as Prophylactics against Malaria. Annales de la Societe Belge de Medecine Tropicale 1960; 40: 511–6.
- 154 Muhlens. Report of a Malaria Expedition to Jerusalem. Zentralblatt fur Bakteriologie, Parasitenkunde, Infektionskrankheiten und Hygiene 1913; 69: 41–85.
- 155 Najera J. Mass drug administration and DDT indoor-spraying as antimalarial measures in the northern savanna of Nigeria. World Health Organization 1973; 73: 1–34.
- 156 Nakibuuka V, Ndeezi G, Nakiboneka D, et al. Presumptive treatment with sulphadoxine-pyrimethamine versus weekly chloroquine for malaria prophylaxis in children with sickle cell anaemia in Uganda: a randomized controlled trial. Malaria Journal 2009; 8: 237.
- 157 Nankabirwa J, Cundill B, Clarke S, et al. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of three regimens for prevention of malaria: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial in Ugandan schoolchildren. PLoS ONE 2010; 5: e13438.
- 158 Nave Rebollo O, Parada E, Guerra A. Malaria in El Salvador. Control and eradication campaign analysis. Revista del Instituto de Investigaciones medicas 1973; 2: 31–9, 3–30.
- 159 Norman T. An Investigation of the Failure of Proguanil Prophylaxis. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1952; 46: 653–5.
- 160 Ntab B, Cisse B, Boulanger D, et al. Impact of intermittent preventive anti-malarial treatment on the growth and nutritional status of preschool children in rural Senegal (West Africa). American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 2007; 77: 411–7.
- 161 Omer AHS. Species prevalence of malaria in northern and southern Sudan, and control by mass chemoprophylaxis. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1978; 27: 858–63.
- 162 Onori E. Experience with mass drug administration as a supplementary attack measure in areas of vivax malaria. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 1972; 47: 543–8.
- 163 Ossi GT. An epidemic in the life of a malaria eradication programme. Bulletin of Endemic Diseases 1967; 9: 5–18.
- 164 Ouédraogo A, Tiono AB, Diarra A, Nébié IO, Konaté AT, Sirima SB. The effects of a pre-season treatment with effective antimalarials on subsequent malaria morbidity in under five-year-old children living in high and

seasonal malaria transmission area of Burkina Faso. Tropical Medicine and International Health 2010; 15: 1315–21.

- 165 Paik HY. Problem Areas in the Malaria Eradication Programme in the British Solomon Islands. Papua New Guinea Medical Journal 1974; 17: 1–115.
- 166 Parrot L, Catanei A, Ambialet R. Comparative Experiments in Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria by Means of Quinine and of Synthetic Drugs (Quinacrine and Praequine). League of Nations Bulletin of the Health Organisation 1937; 6: 683–765.
- 167 Parrot L, Catanei A, Collignon E. New Trials of Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria with Synthetic Drugs. Arch Inst Pasteur d'Algerie 1944; 22: 179–246.
- 168 Parrot L, Catanei A, Collignon E. Further Trials of Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria with Synthetic Drugs. Arch Inst Pasteur d'Algerie 1946; 24: 205–78.
- 169 Parrot L, Catanei A, Collignon E, Ambialet R. New Trial of Synthetic Drugs for Collective Prophylaxis of Malaria. Arch Inst Pasteur d'Algerie 1943; 21: 131–79.
- 170 Peters W. A Critical Survey of the Results of Malaria-Eradication and Control Programmes in the South-West Pacific. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 1962; 56: 20–32.
- 171 Phillips MG. Malaria Prophylaxis. British Medical Journal 1954; 155.
- 172 Pikul J, Serguiev P, Tibourskaya N. Experiment on the Prophylactic Use of Plasmocide in Daghestan with Observations on the Mosquito Infection Rate. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 1934; 3: 322–329.
- 173 Pribadi W, Muzaham F, Santoso T, et al. The implementation of community participation in the control of malaria in rural Tanjung Pinang, Indonesia. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 1986; 17: 371–8.
- 174 Prokopenko LI. An Analysis of the Causes of the severe Epidemic of Malaria In 1942 in the Urgut District of the Province of Samarkand and Measures to prevent an Increase in Malaria Morbidity in 1943. Medical Parasitology 1945; 14: 15–33.
- 175 Rachou RG, Lyons G, Moura-Lima M, Kerr JA. Synoptic Epidemiológical Studies of Malaria in El Salvador. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1965; 14: 1–62.
- 176 Rafi SM, Shah IA. Paludrine as a Causal Prophylactic in Hyperendemic Areas. Pakistan Journal of Health 1951; 1: 42–6.
- 177 Ray AP. Prophylactic use of paludrine in a tea estate. Indian Journal of Malariology 1948; 2: 35–66.
- 178 Ricosse PJ. Resultats d'une experimentation de chimioprophylaxie par la pyrimethamine dans la zone pilote de lutte antipaludique de bobo-Diolasso. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1959; : 516–35.

- 179 Roberts JMD. Pyrimethamine (Daraprim) in the Control of Epidemic Malaria. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1956; 59: 201–8.
- 180 Roberts JMD. The Control of Epidemic Malaria in the Highlands of Western Kenya. Part I. Before the Campaign. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1964; 67: 161–8.
- 181 Roberts JMD. The Control of Epidemic Malaria in the Highlands of Western Kenya. Part II. The Campaign. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1964; 67: 191–9.
- 182 Roberts JMD. The Control of Epidemic Malaria in the Highlands of Western Kenya. Part III. After the Campaign. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1964; 67: 230–7.
- 183 Robin C, Brochen L. Malaria in Dakar. Results of the Therapeutic and Prophylactic Administration of Synthetic Drugs in a Native Population. Bulletin Medical de l'Afrique-Occidentale Francaise 1946; 3: 97–108.
- 184 Rodríguez López MH, Elizondo EGL, Reyes AFB, Treviño CV, Bown DN. Control focal del paludismo: tratamiento focal usando quimioprofilaxis y rociado intradomiciliar con insecticida para el control del paludismo en el sur de México. Gaceta Médica de México 1994; 130: 313–9.
- 185 Rohner F, Zimmermann MB, Amon RJ, et al. In a randomized controlled trial of iron fortification, anthelmintic treatment, and intermittent preventive treatment of malaria for anemia control in Ivorian children, only anthelmintic treatment shows modest benefit. Journal of Nutrition 2010; 140: 635–41.
- 186 Saarinen M, Iyambo N, Shinyafa L, et al. Mass proguanil prophylaxis. Lancet 1987; 1: 985–6.
- 187 Salako LA, Ajayi FO, Sowunmi A, et al. Malaria in Nigeria: a revisit. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 1990; 84: 435–45.
- 188 Salihu HM, Tchuinguem G, Ratard R. Effect of chloroquine prophylaxis on birthweight and malaria parasite load among pregnant women delivering in a regional hospital in Cameroon. West Indian Medical Journal 2000; 49: 143–7.
- 189 Santos JB, Prata A, Wanssa E. Quimioprofilaxia da malária com mefloquina na amazônia brasileira. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop 1993; 26: 157–62.
- 190 Schliessmann DJ, Joseph VR, Solis M, Carmichael GT. Drainage and larviciding for control of a malaria focus in Haiti. Mosquito News 1973; 33: 371–8.
- 191 Schneider J, Languillon J, Delas A. Association chloroquine-pyrimethamine dans la chimioprophylaxie du paludisme resultats apres 22 mois de traitement 2e note. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1958; 316–9.
- 192 Schneider J, Escudie A, Ouedraogo A, Sales P. Chimoprophylaxie du paludisme par distributions hebdomadaires de chloroquine ou d'une association chloroquine-primaquine-pyrimethamine. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1962; 2.
- 193 Schneider J, Dignat M, Voron, Sfar M. Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria with Premaline in the Gabes Area, May to November, 1946. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1948; 41: 104–8.

- 194 Schneider J, Escudie A, Hamon J. Eradication of Malaria and Chemotherapy. Results obtained with the Association Amino-4 Quinoline + Amino-8 Quinoline in the Pilot Area of Bobo-Dioulasso (Upper Volta). Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1961; 54: 1012–25.
- 195 Schneider J, Larabi M, Balti M. Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria with Nivaquine; Results of Experience in Ghardimaou, Tunisia. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1948; 41: 188–94.
- 196 Seckinger DL. Atabrine and Plasmochin in the Treatment and Control of Malaria. American Journal of Tropical Medicine 1935; 15: 631–649.
- 197 Sehgal J. Progress of malaria eradication in Orissa State during 1965-66. Bulletin of the Indian Society for Malaria & Other Communicable Diseases 1968; 5: 88–93.
- 198 Sergent E. Epidemiological and prophylactic studies of malaria. Annales de l'Institut de Pasteur 1913; 27: 373–90.
- 199 Sesay S, Milligan P, Touray E, et al. A trial of intermittent preventive treatment and home-based management of malaria in a rural area of The Gambia. Malaria Journal 2011; 10:2.
- 200 Shanks GD, Barnett A, Edstein MD, Rieckmann KH. Effectiveness of doxycycline combined with primaquine for malaria prophylaxis. The Medical Journal of Australia 1995; 162: 306–7, 309–10.
- 201 Shanks GD, Edstein MD, Kereu RK, Spicer PE, Rieckmann KH. Postexposure administration of halofantrine for the prevention of malaria. Clinical Infectious Diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 1993; 17: 628–31.
- 202 Shanks GD, Edstein MD, Suriyamongkol V, Timsaad S, Webster HK. Malaria chemoprophylaxis using proguanil/dapsone combinations on the Thai-Cambodian border. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1992; 46: 643–8.
- 203 Shanks GD, Roessler P, Edstein MD, Rieckmann KH. Doxycycline for malaria prophylaxis in Australian soldiers deployed to United Nations missions in Somalia and Cambodia. Military Medicine 1995; 160: 443–5.
- 204 Sheinker KP. An Experiment in epidemiological chemical Prophylaxis at a Site of new Construction in Central Asia. Medical Parasitology 1945; 14: 56–62.
- 205 Shekalaghe SA, Drakeley C, van den Bosch S, et al. A cluster-randomized trial of mass drug administration with a gametocytocidal drug combination to interrupt malaria transmission in a low endemic area in Tanzania. Malaria Journal 2011; 10: 247.
- 206 Shekalaghe SA, ter Braak R, Daou M, et al. In Tanzania, hemolysis after a single dose of primaquine coadministered with an artemisinin is not restricted to glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-deficient (G6PD A-) individuals. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2010; 54: 1762–8.
- 207 Simeons ATW. Mass Treatment with Injectable Atebrin. Indian Medical Gazette 1936; 132–7.
- 208 Simeons ATW. Follow-Up of a Mass Treatment with Injectable Atebrin. Indian Medical Gazette 1938; 73: 713–715.

- 209 Singh J, Misra B, Ray A. Suppressive Treatment with Amodiaquin. Indian Journal of Malariology 1953; 7: 27–31.
- 210 Singh MV, Agarwala RS, Singh KN. Epidemiological study of focal outbreak of malaria in consolidation phase area and evaluation of remedial measures in Uttar Pradesh (India). Bulletin of the Indian Society for Malaria & Other Communicable Diseases 1968; 5: 207-220.
- 211 Snowden FM. The conquest of malaria: Italy, 1900-1962. New Haven, Yale University Press, 2006.
- 212 Sokhna C, Cisse B, Ba el H., et al. A trial of the efficacy, safety and impact on drug resistance of four drug regimens for seasonal intermittent preventive treatment for malaria in Senegalese children. PLoS ONE 2008; 3: e1471.
- 213 Song J, Socheat D, Tan B, et al. Rapid and effective malaria control in Cambodia through mass administration of artemisinin-piperaquine. Malaria Journal 2010; 9: 57.
- 214 Sorel F. Hygiene in Bassam in 1912. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 1913; 6: 645–653.
- 215 Srivastava RS. Malaria Control Measures in the Tarai Area under the Tarai Colonization Scheme, Kichha, District Naini Tal: September 1947 to December 1948. First Report. Indian Journal of Malariology 1950; 4: 151–65.
- 216 Strangways Dixon D. Paludrine (Proguanil) as a malarial prophylactic amongst African labour in Kenya. The East African Medical Journal 1950; 126–30.
- 217 Strickland GT, Fox E, Sarwar M, Khaliq AA, Macdonald M. Effects of chloroquine, amodiaquine and pyrimethamine-sulfadoxine on Plasmodium falciparum gametocytemia. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 1986; 35: 259–62.
- 218 Swellengrebel NH. Report on Investigation into Malaria in the Union of South Africa, 1930-31. Journal of the Medical Association of South Africa 1931; 5: 45.
- 219 Tagbor H, Cairns M, Nakwa E, et al. The clinical impact of combining intermittent preventive treatment with home management of malaria in children aged below 5 years: cluster randomised trial. Tropical Medicine & International Health 2011; 16: 280–9.
- 220 Tine RC, Faye B, Ndour CT, et al. Impact of combining intermittent preventive treatment with home management of malaria in children less than 10 years in a rural area of Senegal: a cluster randomized trial. Malaria Journal 2011; 10: 358.
- 221 Turner DA. A review of the malaria eradication programme in the Solomon Islands 1975-1976. Papua New Guinea Medical Journal 1977; 20: 188–97.
- 222 Usenbaev NT, Baranova AM, Anarbaev AA, Almerekov Ks. Experience in sanitizing an urban focus of vivax malaria (Tashkumyr, Kyrghyzstan). Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2008; 45–6.
- 223 Usenbaev NT, Ezhov MN, Zvantsov AB, Annarbaev A, Zhoroev AA, Almerekov KS. An outbreak of Plasmodium vivax malaria in Kyrghyzstan. Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni 2006; 17–20.

- 224 Van Dijk W. Mass treatment of malaria with chloroquine: results of a trial in Inanwatan. Tropical and Geographical Medicine 1961; 13: 351–6.
- 225 Van Dijk W. Mass Chemoprophylaxis with Chloroquine additional to DDT Indoor Spraying. Tropical and Geographical Medicine 1958; 10: 379–84.
- 226 Van Goor WT, Lodens JG. Clinical Malaria Prophylaxis with Proguanil. Documenta Neerlandica et Indonesica de Morbis Tropicis 1950; 2: 62–81.
- 227 Verhoef H, West CE, Nzyuko SM, et al. Intermittent administration of iron and sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine to control anaemia in Kenyan children: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002; 360: 908–14.
- 228 Villegas L, Cairo H, Huur A, et al. Mass screening and treatment for malaria among gold miners in Suriname. International Journal of Infectious Diseases 2010; 14: e435.
- 229 Von Seidlein L, Walraven G, Milligan PJ, et al. The effect of mass administration of sulfadoxinepyrimethamine combined with artesunate on malaria incidence: a double-blind, community-randomized, placebo-controlled trial in The Gambia. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene 2003; 97: 217–25.
- 230 Wallace MF. Resochin: single dose therapy and mass suppression. Malayan Medical Journal 1954; 8: 251–9.
- 231 Wallace RB. Mass Treatment with Atebrin and Plasmochin simplex. Malayan Medical Journal 1934; 9:33–37.
- 232 Watkins WM, Brandling-Bennett AD, Oloo AJ, Howells RE, Gilles HM, Koech DK. Inadequacy of chlorproguanil 20 mg per week as chemoprophylaxis for falciparum malaria in Kenya. Lancet 1987; 1:125–8.
- 233 White RS, Adhikari AK. Anti-Gametocyte Treatment combined with Anti-Larval Malaria Control. Records of the Malaria Survey of India 1934; 4: 77–94.
- 234 White RS, Adhikari AK. Anti-Gametocyte Treatment combined with Anti-Larval Malaria Control, Part II. Records of the Malaria Survey of India 1937; 7: 221–231.
- 235 Winter HG. Malaria Control in Bengal. Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps 1934; 63: 238–246.
- 236 Wone I. Bilan de la chimioprophylaxie systematique par chloroquine au Senegal, 1963-1966. Medecine d'Afrique Noire 1967; 14: 249–322.
- 237 Yip K. Antimalarial work in China: a historical perspective. Parassitologia 1998; 40: 29–38.
- 238 Annual Report of the Institute for Medical Research for the Year 1932. Kuala Lumpur: Govt. Press, 1933.
- 239 Department of Health, The Executive Yuan Republic of China. Malaria eradication in Lanyu. *Malar Erad Taiwan* 1991; 245–62.

Appendix C: Study exclusion/inclusion process



Appendix D: MDA interview guide

The Malaria Elimination Initiative within the Global Health Group at UCSF is in the process of researching and drafting a background paper about mass drug administration for malaria. The purpose of this paper is to inform future strategy, policy, programming, and research related to MDA, particularly in elimination settings. We are documenting strategies that have already been tried and either succeeded or failed, as well as strategies currently being tested or implemented. We are also interested in ideas on what should be done in the future.

With this in mind, we would like you to tell us about your experiences with and viewpoints on malaria MDA. Please note that we will not use your name or the content of any materials you send to us in our background paper – your responses will be kept confidential and simply serve to improve our understanding of MDA.

- 1. Please describe your experience with MDA, and if relevant, attach any supporting documentation (protocols, unpublished studies, etc) that you are comfortable sharing with us.
 - a. What worked, and why?
 - b. What did not work, and why not?
- 2. If you could design the perfect MDA program, what are your ideal parameters?
 - a. Level of endemicity at time of intervention:
 - b. Seasonality of intervention (pre-, during, or post-transmission period):
 - c. Target population (who, how many, and where):
 - d. Drug regimen (which drugs, # of dosages, duration of treatment):
 - e. Co-interventions (IRS, ITNs/LLINs, etc):
 - f. Method of delivery (Directly Observed Therapy, use of community volunteers, central distribution vs house visits, etc):
 - g. Degree of community engagement (how to maintain involvement):
 - h. Other parameters:
- 3. What do you think are the biggest roadblocks to a successful MDA campaign? How would you address them?
- 4. Do you think MDA should play a role in elimination/eradication efforts? Why or why not?
- 5. Who else would you recommend we speak to about MDA?

References

- 1 Feachem RG, Phillips AA, Targett GA, The Malaria Elimination Group. Shrinking the malaria map: a prospectus on malaria elimination. San Francisco, CA, Global Health Group, UCSF Global Health Sciences, 2009.
- 2 Shanks GD. Control and elimination of Plasmodium vivax. Adv Parasitol 2012; 80: 301–41.
- 3 Greenwood B. The Use of Anti-Malarial Drugs to Prevent Malaria in the Population of Malaria-Endemic Areas. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2004; **70**: 1–7.
- 4 Von Seidlein L, Greenwood BM. Mass administrations of antimalarial drugs. *Trends Parasitol* 2003; **19**: 452–60.
- 5 Poirot E, Skarbinski J, Sinclair D, Kachur SP, Slutsker L, Hwang J. Mass drug administration for malaria. In: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. , John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2013.http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD008846.pub2/abstract (accessed 11 Dec2013).
- 6 League of Nations Malaria Commission. World Health Organization Historical Collection: League of Nations malaria documents. http://www.who.int/library/collections/historical/en/index4.html (accessed 12 Jul2013).
- 7 Dupoux R, Marini C, Barthas R. Mass Prophylaxis of Malaria in Tunis. Bull Acad Med 1937; **118**: 368–72.
- 8 Liu YL, Wu KS, Jia JX. Integrated approach in malaria control including environmental management to reduce man-mosquito contact and reduction of infection source in Huanghuai Plain. *J Parasitol Parasit Dis* 1986; 4: 246–50.
- 9 Berberian DA, Dennis EW. Field Experiments with Chloroquine Diphosphate. Am J Trop Med 1948; 28: 755–76.
- 10 Dapeng L LS. A successful control programme for falciparum malaria in Xinyang, China. Transactions of the royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1996; **90**: 100–2.
- 11 Department of Health, The Executive Yuan Republic of China. Malaria eradication in Lanyu. *Malar Erad Taiwan* 1991; 245–62.
- 12 De Zulueta J. A malaria eradication experiment in the highlands of Kigezi (Uganda). *East Afr Med J* 1964; **41**: 102–20.
- 13 Huehne WH. Experience with an insecticide/drug combination and observations on suppressive chloroquine/pyrimethamine treatment. *J Trop Med Hyg* 1971; **74**: 110–6.
- 14 Kaneko A, Taleo G, Kalkoa M, Yamar S, Kobayakawa T, Björkman A. Malaria eradication on islands. *The Lancet* 2000; **356**: 1560–4.
- 15 Lakshmanacharyulu T, Guha AK, Kache SR. Control of Malaria Epidemics in a River Valley Project. Bull Ind Soc for Mal Com 1968; 94-105.
- 16 Singh MV, Agarwala RS, Singh KN. Epidemiological study of focal outbreak of malaria in consolidation phase area and evaluation of remedial measures in Uttar Pradesh (India). Bull Ind Soc for Malaria Com 1968; **5**: 207-220.

- 17 Song J, Socheat D, Tan B, *et al.* Rapid and effective malaria control in Cambodia through mass administration of artemisinin-piperaquine. *Malar J* 2010; **9**: 57.
- 18 Hsiang MS, Hwang J, Tao AR, *et al.* Mass drug administration for the control and elimination of Plasmodium vivax malaria: an ecological study from Jiangsu province, China. *Malar J* 2013; **12**: 383.
- 19 Hay SI, Smith DL, Snow RW. Measuring malaria endemicity from intense to interrupted transmission. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2008; **8**: 369–78.
- 20 Garfield RM, Vermund SH, Garfield RM, Vermund SH. Changes in malaria incidence after mass drug administration in Nicaragua. *Lancet* 1983; **2**: 500–3.
- 21 White NJ, Qiao LG, Qi G, Luzzatto L. Rationale for recommending a lower dose of primaquine as a Plasmodium falciparum gametocytocide in populations where G6PD deficiency is common. *Malar J* 2012; **11**: 418.
- 22 Han E-T, Lee D-H, Park K-D, *et al.* Reemerging vivax malaria: changing patterns of annual incidence and control programs in the Republic of Korea. *Korean J Parasitol* 2006; **44**: 285–94.
- 23 Joncour G. La Lutte Contre Le Paludisme A Madagascar. Bull World Health Organ 1956; 15: 711–23.
- 24 Ossi GT. An epidemic in the life of a malaria eradication programme. Bull Endem Dis (Baghdad) 1967; 9: 5–18.
- 25 Aliev SP, Aliev SP. [Malaria in the Republic of Tajikistan]. Med Parazitol (Mosk) 2000; 27–9.
- 26 Dola SK. Mass drug administration as a supplementary attack measure in malaria eradication programme. *East Afr Med J* 1974; **51**: 529–31.
- 27 Gabaldon A, Guerrero L. An attempt to eradicate malaria by the weekly administration of pyrimethamine in areas of out-of-doors transmission in Venezuela. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1959; **8**: 433–9.
- 28 Hii JL, Vun YS, Chin KF, et al. The influence of permethrin-impregnated bednets and mass drug administration on the incidence of Plasmodium falciparum malaria in children in Sabah, Malaysia. Med Vet Entomol 1987; 1: 397–407.
- 29 Doi H. Chemotherapeutic malaria control operation by single dose of Fandisar plus Primaquine in North Sumatra, Indonesia. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health* 1989; **20**: 341–9.
- 30 Dondorp AM, Nosten F, Yi P, *et al.* Artemisinin Resistance in Plasmodium falciparum Malaria. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **361**: 455–67.
- 31 Phyo AP, Nkhoma S, Stepniewska K, *et al.* Emergence of artemisinin-resistant malaria on the western border of Thailand: a longitudinal study. *The Lancet* 2012; **379**: 1960–6.
- 32 Hien TT, Thuy-Nhien NT, Phu NH, *et al.* In vivo susceptibility of Plasmodium falciparum to artesunate in Binh Phuoc Province, Vietnam. *Malar J* 2012; **11**: 355.
- 33 Idelson L, Rustamov, R, Lysenko A. Attempt at preventing the hemolytic action of primaquine in persons with a glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity deficit in the erythrocytes by the simultaneous administration of xylitol and riboflavin. *Probl Gematol Pereliv Krovi* 1973; 18: 24–8.

- 34 White LJ, Maude RJ, Pongtavornpinyo W, *et al.* The role of simple mathematical models in malaria elimination strategy design. *Malar J* 2009; **8**: 212.
- 35 Shekalaghe SA, Drakeley C, van den Bosch S, *et al.* A cluster-randomized trial of mass drug administration with a gametocytocidal drug combination to interrupt malaria transmission in a low endemic area in Tanzania. *Malar J* 2011; **10**: 247.
- 36 De Zulueta J. The results of the first year of a malaria eradication pilot project in Northern Kigezi (Uganda). *East Afr Med J* 1961; **38**: 1–26.
- 37 Recht J, Ashley E, White N. A Review of the Safety of 8-aminoquinolines compiled for the WHO Primaquine Evidence Review Group (DRAFT). 2013.
- 38 Shanks GD, Oloo AJ, Aleman GM, *et al*. A New Primaquine Analogue, Tafenoquine (WR 238605), for Prophylaxis against Plasmodium falciparum Malaria. *Clin Infect Dis* 2001; **33**: 1968–74.
- 39 Elmes NJ, Nasveld PE, Kitchener SJ, Kocisko DA, Edstein MD. The efficacy and tolerability of three different regimens of tafenoquine versus primaquine for post-exposure prophylaxis of Plasmodium vivax malaria in the Southwest Pacific. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2008; **102**: 1095–101.